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FOREWORD BY MEMBER OF THE 

EXECUTIVE COUNCIL 

The Department of Transport remains committed to ensure that 

Mayibuye Transport Corporation continues with its mandate of 

providing safe, affordable and reliable public transport within its area 

transported in the year under review, as many as 85% or 1,5 million, 

come from the rural areas. Mayibuye is therefore making a significant 

contribution to rural development in these areas. Without its services, 

these passengers would have had to depend on other modes of public 

transport which may not have been safe, reliable or affordable. In view 

hereof, the Department will continue its efforts to ensure that the 

Corporation is properly funded to deliver on this crucial mandate. 

We would like to congratulate the Board of Directors of the Corporation for their continued 

commitment which is reflected in the results of the Corporation. Unfortunately Mayibuye did not 

receive an unqualified audit report and I would like to urge the Accounting Authority to continue 

working on the qualifications in order to achieve a clean report from the Auditor General in the next 

financial year. The Department hereby pledges its continued support to assist the Corporation in 

achieving this, which support is illustrated by the additional funding that was made available for the 

upgrading of the Corporation‟s revenue collection system. 

As the Department of Transport, we remain optimistic that Mayibuye Transport Corporation will 

continue to serve the communities within their areas of operations and even improve those services 

with the introduction of better vehicles as and when they become available. As one of the 

Department‟s operating entities, we salute the work that Mayibuye Transport Corporation does. 

 

 

 

 

 

T. Marawu (Ms) 

MEC for Public Works, Roads & Transport 

HON MEC T Marawu 
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRPERSON 

Transport is not only an essential but also one of the single most visible 

elements of contemporary society.  To this end Mayibuye Transport 

Corporation has continued to be visible and to showcase its resilience 

under the very challenging conditions.  

The Corporation has continued to reap the benefits of its services and it is 

worthy to note that the Corporation performed admirably under tough 

economic conditions relative to its competitors.  As we endeavour to 

ensure that we continue in our strive to serve the rural communities of our 

Province, proper financial management, compliance and good governance 

shall remain key to the Corporation. 

I wish to echo the sentiments expressed by the Board in congratulating 

the management team of Mayibuye Transport Corporation on the 5 new buses that it acquired during 

the year under review.  Considering the history of the Corporation, it is now no longer unrealistic to 

talk about a soon-to-be completed metamorphosis from the Corporation of the past to the Corporation 

of today and the future. 

Our strategic partners, namely, the Provincial Department of Transport and the Portfolio Committee 

on Transport, have been absolutely key to our operational success. The transport experience of our 

passengers and commuters has improved over the years primarily because our partners have come 

along with us on the journey of continuously intensifying our efforts to improve customer service. 

Serving as the Chairperson of the Board of Mayibuye Transport Corporation has been a very 

rewarding and enriching experience for me and this is particularly so through the continued interaction 

with our management team, so competently led by Luthando Mbinda, our Chief Executive Officer. 

To my colleagues on the Board, a heartfelt appreciation for your commitment in executing the 

oversight role you play and the considered guidance provided to the management team. I wish to take 

this opportunity to recognise and thank you for the diligent manner in which you discharged your 

responsibilities. 

Finally, I would like to thank the Hon MEC Marawu for her support.  We look forward to carry on 

working with her for the continued benefit of the people of our Province that we serve. 

 
__________________________________________________________ 

P.L.C. MASETI 

CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS  

MAYIBUYE TRANSPORT CORPORATION 

P.L.C. Maseti 

Board Chairperson 
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION 

1.1 SUBMISSION OF ANNUAL REPORT TO THE EXECUTIVE AUTHORITY BY 

THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF MAYIBUYE TRANSPORT 

CORPORATION 

In accordance with the provisions of Section 40(1)(d) of the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 

(Act 1 of 1999) as amended, the Annual Report for the fiscal year ended 31 March 2011 is hereby 

submitted to the Member of the Executive Council Responsible for Roads & Transport in the Province 

of the Eastern Cape.  

 

________________________________________ 

L.R. MBINDA 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER  

MAYIBUYE TRANSPORT CORPORATION 

1.2 INTRODUCTION BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

MTC is committed to operating in an effective and business like manner; hence 

policy implementation; systems development and business management 

systems that are meeting the department‟s and government priority 

imperatives, have received priority during the year under review.  Financial 

management systems have improved significantly and cognisance was given to 

proper risk and liquidity planning.  We will continue our endeavours to attain a 

clean audit report and business activity as a going concern. 

The management will continue driving a process of enhancing financial 

management and promoting viability through ethical business conduct while striving to meet the     

Corporation‟s Vision and Mission. The Board strives to be the focal point for corporate governance 

and risk management while promoting stakeholder activism, to achieve broad participatory and 

satisfactory customer service. 

This report reflects on the strategic and operational plan for 2010/11 financial year and responding to, 

but not limited, issues raised by the: 

 Department of Transport; 

 Portfolio Committee on Transport; 

 Provincial Growth and Development Plan Review (PGDP); 

 National and Provincial priorities as per State of the Nation Address (SONA) and State of the 

Province Address (SOPA);  

 Auditor-General and 

CEO - L.R. Mbinda 
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 Input from our commuters. 

The performance report, synopsized in this introduction, will share progress achieved during the year 

under review. 

1.2.1 GOING FORWARD 

The Corporation will continue maximising inter-governmental co-operation that will result in close 

working relations with the government Departments; District and Local Municipalities and other State 

Owned Enterprises while enhancing Corporations capacity to serve its‟ customers.   

We will also be monitoring the findings of the Legislature and actively work towards the 

implementation of the resolutions. 

At a strategic level, we have developed and submitted a strong business case and lobbied the relevant 

stakeholders for capital funding as our depot infrastructure, fleet and workshop equipment is 

deteriorating. The Corporation‟s strategic objectives and mandate will not be achievable if the 

recapitalisation plan funding is unsuccessful.  

MTC will also continue to invest, within budget constraints, in its‟ human resources and capacitate the 

Corporation with the appropriate calibre of staff. 

I take this opportunity to thank our commuters, MTC staff and Board of Directors for their 

contribution in making the Corporation realise its‟ goals and objectives. 

1.2.2 PROGRAMME HIGHLIGHTS 

1.2.2.1 Finance Highlights 

 Developing, implementing and updating of sound risk management practices with the 

assistance from the audit committee and internal audit. 

 Improving financial management through: 

 Operating own payroll system. 

 Functional internal audit unit and audit committee. 

 Financial policy development and implementation. 

Moving forward, the division will be focused towards the following: 

 Upgrading the financial accounting operating system. 

 Implement audit action plan to achieve an unqualified audit opinion. 

 Improved audit opinion. 

1.2.2.2 Operations Highlights 

 Promotion of the female dispatcher Ms Ngunuza to supervisor demonstrates the level of 

seriousness on matters of Employment Equity such as transformation. 
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 MTC to make a mark in the Driver of the Year Competition (DOTY).  Mr Qongqo, our bus 

driver, has made the Corporation proud again by winning the 1st place in the National leg 

of this competition and will be representing South Africa internationally. 

 MTC has assisted in the conveyance of scholars on certain routes when scholar transport 

was withdrawn at a discounted fare. 

1.2.2.3 Human Resources Highlights 

 The vacant positions of ICT Manager and HR Officer were filled. 

 Three policies i.e. Exit Policy, Staff Retention Policy and Employment Equity and Skills 

Development Strategy were approved by the Board of Directors. 

 Workshops were conducted with MTC staff to familiarise them with these policies. 

 An Internship program that was initiated three years ago is progressing well. 

1.2.2.4 Engineering Highlights 

 Five buses were acquired in the form of leasing impacting positively in repairs and 

maintenance costs. 

 Refurbishment program is on-going. It is through this program, driven by a competent 

team, that fleet face-lifting is realised; albeit at a slow pace than is desired; 

 Strengthening of external relationships, especially at an industry level, through SABOA 

structures where industry issues and relevant legislation are discussed is on-going; 

 The period under review has seen containment of variable expenses which can be attributed 

to stable fuel prices and constant monitoring of driver performance through fleet 

management system.    

 We managed to stabilise overall fuel consumption below the 40l/100Km mark. Among the 

factors worth mentioning is the increase of 7% in fuel efficient vehicles in the fleet 

translating into 22 out of a full complement of 63 buses. 

1.2.2.5 Communication and Marketing Highlights 

 As part of the Corporation‟s Social Responsibility, we have managed to sponsor sporting 

codes and provided assistance to communities within where we generate revenue. 

 Established bus committees are ongoing in routes of our operations. 

 Updating and populating the website for MTC. 

 Customer Service Charter developed. 

 Communications and Marketing Plan developed. 

 CSI Plan developed. 
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1.3 INFORMATION ABOUT THE ENTITY 

Mayibuye Transport Corporation is registered as a Corporation in terms of the Ciskei Act 16 of 1981 

by Government Decree number 89 of 1990.  MTC is a Schedule 3D company in terms of the Public 

Finance Management Act (PFMA).  MTC is currently considered a public entity and its shareholder is 

the Department of Transport in the Eastern Cape. 

At present MTC receives a subsidy in the form of a grant-in-aid to cover the operating expenses of the 

Corporation. 

The main objective of Mayibuye Transport Corporation is to provide an affordable bus transport 

service to the predominantly rural communities of the former Republic of Ciskei where public 

transport was either inadequate or not existing at all. 

1.3.1 AREAS OF OPERATION 

MTC currently provides passenger transport services through its four bus depots: 

1.3.1.1 Zwelitsha Depot 

This depot is situated opposite Zone 8, along Route 347. It covers the area of King William‟s Town. 

Contact Details 

Zwelitsha Depot      

Mount Coke Road, Zone 8     

Zwelitsha 5608       

 

Tel: 040 – 6541351   Fax: 040 – 6551907 

1.3.1.2 Reeston Depot 

The Reeston depot is situated on the corner of Drummond and Mdantsane Access Roads between 

Mdantsane and East London. It covers the Potsdam and Newlands areas of Buffalo City. 

Contact Details 

Reeston Depot       

c/o Drummond & Mdantsane Access Roads   

Reeston, East London 5214     

Tel: 043-7452582   Fax: 043-7452152 

1.3.1.3 Queenstown Depot 

This depot is situated at Queendustria, Ezibeleni and services the Whittlesea and Ntabethemba areas 

of the Chris Hani District Municipality. 
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Contact Details 

Queenstown Depot      

No. 20 Faraday Road      

Queendustrial, Queenstown, 6320    

Tel: 045-8588826   Fax: 045-8588290 

1.3.1.4 Alice Depot 

This depot is situated in Alice and covers the Nkonkobe Municipal area. 

Contact Details 

Alice Depot       

Tompson Street       

Alice, 5700       

Tel: 040-6531371 

1.3.2 BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Mr. P.L.C. Maseti  Chairperson 

Mr. S.J. Nyengane  Deputy Chairperson 

Mr. P.P. Balfour  Member 

Mr. M. Tuswa  Member 

Mr. A.J. De Vries  Member 

Mr. T.A. Thomas  Member 

Ms. A.M. Church  Member 

Ms. N.E.P. Loyilane  Member 

Ms. N. Shweni-Booysen Member 

Mrs.  R.N. Luzuka  Member 

Ms. F.S. Loliwe  Member 

1.3.3 EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT 

Mr. L.R. Mbinda  CEO 

Mr. L.C. Mtise   HOD: Human Resources  

Mr. Z.D. Leni   HOD: Engineering 

Mr. L. Coetzer   Chief Financial Officer 

Ms. N. Funani   HOD: Operations 

1.3.3.1 Senior Manager 

Mr. L. Stemele                         Compliance Manager     

1.3.3.2 Secretary 

Mrs. C. Cronjé 
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1.3.4 REGISTERED HEAD OFFICE AND POSTAL ADDRESS 

Reeston Depot      P.O. Box 19596 

Cnr of Drummond and Mdantsane Access Roads  Tecoma, East London 

Wilsonia      5214 

East London 

5247 

1.3.5 BANKERS 

Standard Bank of South Africa Limited 

King William‟s Town 

1.3.6 AUDITORS 

Auditor-General 

Audit Committee: 

 Mr. J. Mdeni - Chairperson 

 Mrs. R. Luzuka 

 Mrs. T. Jama 

1.4 VISION AND MISSION STATEMENT 

The VISION of Mayibuye Transport Corporation is as follows: 

“Mayibuye Transport Corporation strives to be a leading public transport service provider in its areas 

of operation.  Guided by the ethos of customer service excellence, Mayibuye Transport Corporation 

(MTC) will provide passenger transport services which are community-driven. It will continuously 

strive to be a safe, reliable and technically efficient organization”. 

The MISSION of Mayibuye Transport Corporation is as follows: 

“In pursuance of its vision, Mayibuye Transport Corporation (MTC) strives to: 

 Maintain the highest possible standards in the provision of an effective and efficient 

transport service to the Eastern Cape communities on selected routes. 

 Provide an enabling environment conducive to the provision of an affordable, convenient 

and safe mode of public transport. Keep abreast of trends and developments in the sector to 

meet changing customer and stakeholder needs. 

 The creation of strategies that lend support to the Provincial Growth and Development Plan, 

Batho Pele and BEE initiatives and principles. 

1.5 LEGISLATIVE MANDATE 

The Corporation derives its existence from the following legislative mandate: 

 Basic Conditions of Employment Act (Act No of 1997). 
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 Corporations Transitional Provisions Act (Act 12 of 1995) (Eastern Cape) 

 Employment Equity Act, 1998 (Act No 55 of 1998).  

 Fraud and Corruption Act (Act 12 of 2004). 

 Labour Relations Act (Act No 65 of 1995). 

 National Land Transport Transition Act, 2000 (No 22 of 2000) (NLTTA). 

 National Road Traffic Act, 1996 (Act No. 93 of 1996). 

 National Transport Policy 1996.  

 Occupational Health and Safety Act (Act No 85 of 1993). 

 Passenger Transportation (Interim Provisions) Act, 1999 (No 11 of 1999).  

 Preferential Procurement Policy Framework Act, 2000 (Act No 5 of 2000).  

 Promotion of Access to Information Act (Act No 2 of 2000). 

 Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (No 1 of 1999) (PFMA).  

 Road Transportation Act, 1977 (Act No. 74 of 1977).  

 Skills Development Act, 1998 (Act No 97 of 1998).  

 Skills Development Levy Act, 1999 (Act No 9 of 1999).  

 Including regulations emanating from the above legislation. 

 

 

Handing over of soccer kit to Tshatshu Warriors Soccer Team Management 

by the CEO, Luthando Mbinda 
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PART 2 

 

PERFORMANCE OF MTC 

DIVISIONS  

 

 

MTC employees receiving ABET certificates. 
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2 PERFORMANCE OF THE MTC DIVISIONS 

The strategic focus of the Mayibuye Transport Corporation can be summarised as follows: 

 Strengthen collaboration and accountability between the Board and Management in building 

strong and good governance. 

 Develop MTC into a strong brand. 

 Implement sound human resources practice in MTC. 

 Ensure sound financial and administrative practice at MTC. 

 Develop an organization with strong ITC capabilities. 

 Strive to maintain world class standards. 

 Promote safe, reliable public transport services. 

 Reduce the rate of accidents in its area of operation. 

 Comply with all laws governing public entities. 

2.1 AIM OF ENTITY 

To ensure effective and efficient governance and administration structures, systems and culture 

capable of responding to Provincial Roads and Transport priorities.  

2.2 SUMMARY OF DIVISIONS WITHIN MTC 

Mayibuye Transport Corporation is divided into the following programmes and sub-programmes 

(Departments): 

 Administration 

o Office of the CEO 

o Finance 

o Human Resources Management 

o Marketing & Communication 

 Operations and Traffic 

 Engineering 
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2.3 OVERVIEW OF SERVICE DELIVERY ENVIRONMENT FOR 2010/11 

2.3.1 REVENUE COLLECTION 

Route and Private Hire Revenue 

Year Budget Actual Variance 

2009 16,509,000 19,426,462 2,917,462 

2010 21,171,560 18,513,578 (2,657,982) 

2011 18,650,942 18,633,508 (17,434) 

2.3.2 EXPENDITURE 

Item 2011 

Actual 

2010 

Actual 

2009 

Actual 

Profit / (Loss) from operations 164,385 (5,009,206) 1,765,461 

Personnel  35,165,181 31,021,556 26,147,182 

Audit Fees : Internal 423,607 453,309 392,599 

Audit Fees: External 1,340,093 1,339,774 505,681 

Operating expenses 25,861,242 24,871,027 21,558,376 

Depreciation 7,207,526 11,492,104 7,602,035 

2.3.2.1 Capital Expenditure 

The Corporation has received a capital grant from the Department of Transport which has been spent 

as follows: 

2010/11 

Item Budget Expenditure Variance 

New Buses & 

Refurbishment 

5,800,000 8,115,333 (2,315,333) 

Ancillary Vehicles 300,000 351,678 (51,678) 

Operating Equipment 2,770,000 3,295,872 (525,872) 

Workshop Equipment 400,000 13,660 386,340 
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Item Budget Expenditure Variance 

Office Furniture & 

Equipment, IT 

Infrastructure 

150,000 533,284 (272,510) 

Depot Upgrading 440,000 175,512 264,488 

Spare Parts & Units - 4,428,499 (4,428,499) 

Total 9,860,000 16,913,838 7,053,838 

Please note:  The expenditure incurred on buses is for an operating lease agreement and the 

capital funds are committed for the remainder of the lease term.  Refer to Note 4 on page 62. 

2009/10 

Item Budget Expenditure Variance 

Three New Buses & 

Refurbishment 

6,300,000 5,186,518 1,113,482 

New Vehicles 660,000 672,734 (12,734) 

Operating Equipment 120,000 171,865 (51,865) 

Workshop Equipment 100,000 56,761 43,239 

Office Furniture & 

Equipment 

150,000 433,460 (283,460) 

Depot Upgrading 1,120,000 708,883 411,117 

IT Infrastructure 50,000 50,000 - 

Spare Parts & Units - 3,838,896 (3,838,896) 

Total 8,500,000 11,119,117 (2,619,117) 

 
 

Depreciation Rates for Assets Percentage 

Ancillary Vehicles 25% 

Buses – Body 12.5% 

Buses – Chassis, engine, etc  8.33% 

Office Equipment 20% 



 

 
Mayibuye Transport Corporation 

Annual Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2011 

 

 

 

Page 20 of 86 

Depreciation Rates for Assets Percentage 

Office Furniture 10% 

Operating Equipment 20% 

Workshop Equipment 25% 

Buildings 2% 

Spare Parts & Units 50% 

2.4 OVERVIEW OF ORGANISATIONAL ENVIRONMENT 

Mayibuye Transport Corporation (MTC) is a government parastatal that was established in 1990. It 

strives to provide an effective and efficient public transport service to its customers. It has depots in 

Alice, Reeston, Queenstown and Zwelitsha. Its peak fleet presently comprises of 48 buses servicing 

major routes in the former Ciskei and Border areas. Its client base stems from the broad spectrum of 

the Eastern Cape population. It has created a niche for itself in the public servants‟ market. MTC‟s 

name has been synonymous with affordability and reliability. 

The Corporation had a total staff complement of 191 as at 31 March 2011 which reflects a staff to bus 

ratio of 3:1, vacancies in critical positions such as ICT Manager and HR Officer were filled. Positions 

of Protection Services Officer and Occupational Nurse could not be filled due to financial constraints.  

The following critical positions were filled in the 2010/11 financial year: 

 ICT Manager 

 HR Officer  

The following vacant positions could not be filled due to financial constraints: 

 Protection Services Officer 

 Occupational Nurse 

2.5 STRATEGIC OVERVIEW AND KEY POLICY DEVELOPMENTS FOR 2010/11 

For the year under review, the number of female directors has increased from three to five.  

MTC Board is mandated by the Department of Transport to restructure the Corporation. As a result of 

this mandate the Board has developed and submitted a recapitalisation plan. 

The Audit Committee continues working with the Internal Audit unit.  The Board of Directors are 

getting feedback in Board meetings from the Chairperson of the Audit Committee.  

An MTC five year Strategic Plan and Annual Performance Plan for 2010/11 financial year was 

developed and approved by the Board of Directors.  A Fraud Prevention Plan and Risk Management 

Strategy are also in place. 
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2.6 PERFORMANCE OF DIVISIONS WITHIN MTC 

2.6.1     OFFICE OF THE CEO  

The office of the CEO provides strategic leadership and direction for the 

organization and gives support to the Board of Directors. 

 

 

 

Measurable Objectives Performance Measure Performance Indicators and 

Targets 

Deviations / 

Comments 

Board Management. Review Board 

Development Plan and 

implement the same. 

Board Charter reviewed and 

implemented. 

Target achieved. 

Board Plan Implemented. Target achieved. 

Board Appraisal Tool 

developed and implemented. 

Target achieved. 

Roles of Directors. Conflict of Interest Register 

maintained.  

Target achieved.  

Declaration of directors‟ 

financial interest. 

Target achieved. 

Delegation of Authority 

reviewed and implemented. 

Target achieved. 

Develop a Board 

Development Programme 

to Capacitate Board 

Members with oversight on 

risk Management, 

Fiduciary Duties and Roles 

of Directors in Line with 

Legislation. 

Board Development Plan 

and Implementation. 

Implementation of Board 

Development Plan. 

Target achieved. 

Risk Assessment. Risk Management Plan 

and risk assessment 

updated. 

Conduct Enterprise wide risk 

assessment. 

Target achieved. 

Service Delivery 

Improvement Plan 

Developed.  

Service Delivery 

Improvement Plan 

implemented. 

Service Delivery 

Improvement Plan Developed 

and Implemented.  

Target achieved. 

CEO - L.R. Mbinda 
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Measurable Objectives Performance Measure Performance Indicators and 

Targets 

Deviations / 

Comments 

Maximise inter-

governmental co-operation. 

Sustain and strengthen 

partnerships with 

D.O.R.T. and the 

Legislature. 

Continuous interaction with 

the stakeholders by providing 

quarterly and oversight 

reports timeously e.g. 

D.O.R.T and the Legislature. 

Target achieved. 

Compliance Plan 

developed. 

Develop a Compliance 

Plan for all relevant 

legislative mandates. 

Compliance Plan for 

legislative mandates 

developed and implemented. 

50% achieved.  

Compliance Policy 

and Charter 

Developed. It has 

been forwarded to 

Internal Auditors 

for validation. 

2.6.1.1 Other Projects 

Measurable Objectives Performance Measure Performance Indicators and 

Targets 

Deviations / 

Comments 

Formulate Policies and 

Procedural Framework. 

Policies developed and 

procedure manual done. 

Policies and Procedure 

manuals done: 

 Financial Policies 

e.g. Investment 

Policy; Revenue & 

Debtor Management 

Policy; Accounting 

System, Journal 

Policy and Asset 

Management Policy. 

 Employment Equity 

and Skills 

Development 

Strategy. 

 Notebook 

Computers & 

Portable Printers 

Policy. 

 IT Master Strategy. 

 Performance 

Management Policy. 

 Exit Policy. 

 Staff Retention 

Policy. 

Target achieved. 

Strategic leadership and 

direction at MTC. 

Strategic Plan reviewed, 

adopted and 

implemented. 

Strategic Plan reviewed and 

translated into action plans. 

Target achieved. 
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2.6.2 HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT  

2.6.2.1 Purpose of Human Resources Division   

The purpose of Human Resources Management Division is to render and 

coordinate strategic Human Resources Services in the following areas: 

 Human Resource Development 

 Employment Relations 

 Integrated Employee Wellness 

 Employment Equity 

 Protection and Inspectorate Services  

 

2.6.2.2 Strategic Goals of Human Resources Division 

2.6.2.2.1 Capacitate MTC with relevant Human Resources 

2.6.2.2.2 Improve quality of Work Life  

2.6.2.3     Service Delivery Objectives, Indicators & Achievements 

The Human Resources Division has been able to demonstrate results against its measurable objectives 

as indicated below: 

Measurable Objective Performance Measure Target Output 

2010/11 

Actual Output 

2010/11 

Deviation 

from Target 

& Reasons for 

Non-

Achievement 

Capacitate MTC with 

relevant Human 

Resources. 

 

Implement 

performance 

management system. 

Train managers and 

supervisors. Offer 

financial rewards. 

Managers and 

supervisors 

trained. Two 

assessments 

conducted. 

Target partly 

achieved, no 

financial 

rewards due to 

lack of funds. 

Implement policies and 

procedural frame work. 

Conduct awareness 

workshops on 

approved policies 

and develop HR 

manual. 

Workshops 

conducted on: 

HIV/AIDS, 

Employee Study 

Assistance, 

Training and 

Development, 

Code of Business 

Ethics. HR 

Manual compiled. 

Target 

achieved. 

MTC organogram 

populated. Finalise 

Employment Equity 

Filling of critical 

funded positions in 

line with budget 

Positions of ICT 

Manager. Trainee 

HR Officer and 

Target 

Achieved. 

HOD: HR – C. Mtise 
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Measurable Objective Performance Measure Target Output 

2010/11 

Actual Output 

2010/11 

Deviation 

from Target 

& Reasons for 

Non-

Achievement 

Strategy (EES). allocation. 

Submission of EES 

to the Board for 

approval and 

implementation. 

Trainee 

Accountant 

appointed. 

Skills Development 

Plan finalised and 

implemented. 

Implement training 

plan and evaluate. 

WSP submitted to 

TETA and training 

program is 

implemented at all 

levels. 

Target 

achieved. 

Improve quality of life. Implement Health and 

Safety programme. 

Ensure compliance 

as per legislative 

prescripts. 

Programme not 

developed. SHE 

reps and first 

aiders undergoing 

training. 

Partially 

achieved due 

to HR staff 

restructure. 

2.6.2.4     Staff Establishment 

The personnel to operating bus ratio is 3:1. This means that the Corporation has a permanent staff 

complement of 191 while operating a fleet of 65 buses (51 average peak buses plus 14 non-operational 

buses). 

2.6.2.5     Industrial Relations 

The Corporation has a collective agreement with the South African Transport and Allied Workers 

Union (SATAWU).  MTC is also affiliated to the South African Bus Employers Association 

(SABEA) who is also a member of the South African Road Passenger Bargaining Council 

(SARPBAC). 

The total membership of the Union stood at One Hundred and seventy six (176) employees. 

2.6.2.6     Appointments and Promotions 

The position of an IT Manager was filled. The HR Administrator was promoted to the position of a 

Trainee HR Officer and put through a development programme to be a fully-fledged Officer. This 

appointment was in line with our Employment Equity Plan which addresses equity targets at 

management level. 

2.6.2.7     Terminations 

Twenty nine (29) staff members exited the employ of the Corporation during the year under review.  

The table below represents a breakdown of various categories of terminations: 

Retired Dismissed Resigned Absconded Incapacity Deceased 

8  11  7 1 1 1 
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2.6.3 FINANCE DIVISION   

The financial performance and position of the Corporation is outlined in 

the in the audited annual financial statements. 

2.6.3.1 Purpose of Finance Division 

This programme also ensures the provision of systematic financial 

management systems designed to co-ordinate the organisation‟s budget 

and resource requirements.  Such activities include ensuring compliance 

with regulatory provisions required to facilitate the funding of MTC as 

well as to take appropriate steps to ensure that expenditure occurs within 

the approved budget and to prevent overspending of the budget. 

2.6.3.2 Strategic Goal of Finance Division 

Ensure financial sustainability. 

2.6.3.3 Revenue 

Total own-revenue generation for the financial period under review amounted to R18,633,508.  

Revenue generation by depot was as follows:- 

Depot 2011 2010 

Zwelitsha 7,196,358 7,870,299 

Reeston 4,161,776 3,652,963 

Queenstown 5,713,287 5,298,175 

Alice 1,562,087 1,692,141 

TOTAL 18,633,508 18,513,578 

The own-revenue has been achieved by an average number of 48 operating buses (2010: 48) with a 

total number of 2,341,510 kilometers travelled. Private hire kilometers amounted to 137,765 (2010: 

150,722) while route kilometers stood at 2,203,745 (2010: 2,231,356) for the financial year. 

The increase in revenue in 2011 was achieved without implementing the annual fare increase. 

Combined revenue has been generated by each depot as follows: 

Depot 

2011 2010 

Route 

Revenue 

Private Hire 

Revenue 

Route 

Revenue 

Private Hire 

Revenue 

Zwelitsha 6,474,403 721,955 7,212,534 631,101 

CFO – L. Coetzer 
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Depot 

2011 2010 

Route 

Revenue 

Private Hire 

Revenue 

Route 

Revenue 

Private Hire 

Revenue 

Reeston 3,271,328 890,448 2,971,545 708,082 

Queenstown 5,173,223 540,064 5,046,891 251,284 

Alice 1,378,806 183,280 1,519,972 172,170 

TOTAL 16,297,760 2,335,747 16,750,942 1,762,637 

Bus allocation per depot for the financial year was as follows: 

DEPOT 2011 2010 

Zwelitsha 18 17 

Reeston 11 12 

Queenstown 13 12 

Alice 6 7 

TOTAL OPERATING BUSES 48 48 

Average route revenue per bus was as follows:- 

DEPOT 2011 2010 

Zwelitsha 359,689 424,267 

Reeston 297,393 247,629 

Queenstown 397,940 420,574 

Alice 229,801 217,139 

2.6.3.4 Government Grant-in-Aid 

The Corporation receives a grant-in-aid from The Provincial Department of Transport. The grant is to 

subsidize bus fares and partly fund the Corporation‟s operating activities. Allocation for the financial 

year under review was as follows:- 

 2011 2010 

Grant-in-Aid 41,809,000 43,000,000 
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2.6.3.5 Financial Statistics for the Five Years to March 2011: 

DETAILS 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 

Revenue 18,633,508 18,513,578 19,426,462 15,055,438 12,149,128 

Grant-in-Aid 41,809,000 43,000,000 31,895,000 33,565,000 27,747,177 

Capital Grant-in-Aid 9,860,000 8,500,000 5,000,000 7,000,000 4,250,000 

Route Passengers 1,790,793 1,808,717 2,053,531 1,751,785 1,574,045 

Route Kilometres 2,203,745 2,231,356 2,432,486 2,306,722 2,155,049 

Buses at Year end 63 65 62 58 56 

Number of Employees 191 175 171 171 170 

Revenue Cents per 

Kilometre (Cpk) 

846 830 799 653 564 

Staff Ratio 3.0:1 2.7:1 2.8:1 2.9:1 3.0:1 

2.6.3.6 Service Delivery Objectives, Indicators & Achievements 

The Finance Division has been able to demonstrate results against its measurable objectives as 

indicated below: 

Measurable 

Objective 

Performance 

Indicator 

Target Output 

2010/11 

Actual Output 

2010/11 

Deviation from 

Target & 

Reasons for 

Non-

Achievement 

Effective financial 

management. 

Effective financial 

management and 

internal controls. 

Monitor and 

evaluate internal 

controls. 

Internal control 

environment 

managed by 

establishment of 

risk committee 

and assistance of 

internal audit and 

audit committee. 

 

Target achieved. 

 

 

 

 Audit queries 

reduced and action 

plan developed. 

Unqualified clean 

audit report and 

reviewal of action 

plan. 

Not achieved.  

Received a 

qualified opinion. 

  

Audit Action 

Plan drafted.  

Requested AG 

to assist in 

clearing 

qualification. 
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Measurable 

Objective 

Performance 

Indicator 

Target Output 

2010/11 

Actual Output 

2010/11 

Deviation from 

Target & 

Reasons for 

Non-

Achievement 

 Timely submissions 

to Board, DOT and 

AG. 

Continual review of 

support systems and 

timeous (according 

to pre-determined 

calendar) 

submissions of 

accurate, reliable 

and printed reports. 

Support system 

reviewed. 

Identified need to 

improve. 

All financial 

reports were 

submitted 

accurately, 

reliable and 

printed timeously. 

Target achieved.  

2.6.4 ENGINEERING DIVISION 

2.6.4.1 Purpose of Engineering Division 

The purpose of Engineering Division is to provide Operations Division 

with safe and reliable buses so that they can operate according to their 

schedule. The urgent need for recapitalisation of the fleet and infrastructure 

cannot be over-emphasised. This will create an enabling environment to 

continue fulfilling the purpose on a sustainable basis. 

2.6.4.2 Strategic Goal of Engineering Division 

To provide safe, reliable buses to Operations Division so as to ensure the mandate of the corporation 

is carried out. 

2.6.4.3 Sections within Engineering 

 Tyre Section 

 Warehouse function 

 Maintenance Section 

 Facility planning 

2.6.4.4 Service Delivery Objectives, Indicators & Achievements  

The Engineering Division has been able to demonstrate results against its measurable objectives as 

indicated below: 

 

 

 

HOD: Engineering 

Z. Leni 
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Measurable 

Objective 

Performance 

Measure 

Target Output 

2010/11 

Actual Output 

2010/11 

Deviation from 

Target 

Reason for Non-

Achievement 

Alignment of 

training needs to 

technological 

advances/operational 

challenges.  

Scaling down of 

maintenance of 

new generation 

vehicles by 

external dealers.  

Scope alternative 

service provider 

and implement 

training. 

Engagement with 

Volkwagen, 

Mercedes Benz 

and MAN at an 

advance stage.  

Target not achieved. 

Developing tailor-

made program 

responsive to MTC‟s 

operational needs. 

Bus refurbishment, 

maintenance 

program and depot 

upgrading.  

 

 

 

Market share 

sustained through 

reliable service. 

 

 

4 buses 

refurbished. 

Refurbished two 

buses. At year-

end, the third bus 

was almost 50% 

complete. 

Target partially 

achieved (60%), due 

to financial 

constraints. 

76 major services, 

1,200 safety 

checks and 55 

COFs performed. 

81 major services, 

4,175 safety 

checks and 84 

COFs carried out. 

Target achieved. 

 

 

Construction of 

new office block 

in Zwelitsha, 

electrification of 

fence and sewer 

system connected 

to main line for 

Reeston. 

Construction work 

and electrification 

projects could not 

be achieved, 

Sewer project 

carried out 100%. 

Target not achieved.  

Recapitalisation 

project not funded. 

Target achieved. 

New buses and 

LDVs purchased. 

 

 

Improved image 

and reliability of 

the service. 

 

 

To acquire 3 

buses. 

To acquire 2 

disability friendly 

buses. 

5 buses acquired 

through leasing. 

100% non-

achievement. 

Target achieved. 

 

Target not achieved. 

Insufficient funding. 

Revenue 

generation 

enhanced through 

reliable vehicles 

for inspectorate. 

To acquire 6 

LDVs. 

16% performance. Target not achieved 

due to insufficient 

funding. 
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2.6.5 OPERATIONS DIVISION 

2.6.5.1  Purpose of Operations Division 

Operations serve as the heart of the Corporation by spearheading the 

transportation of passengers on all MTC routes and thereby generate 

revenue for the Corporation.  

2.6.5.2 Strategic Goal of Operations Division 

To institutionalise operations‟ best interest. 

2.6.5.3 Strategic Objectives for Operations Division 

 Develop alternative revenue generation streams by promoting private hire. 

 Improve route performance. 

 Improve driver performance. 

 Increase No of buses operating in social routes. 

2.6.5.4 Sections within Operations Division 

 Traffic 

 Revenue Collection 

 Statistics 

 Private Hire 

 Inspection  

 Despatch 

2.6.5.5 Service Delivery Objectives, Indicators & Achievements  

The Operations Division has been able to demonstrate results against its measurable objectives as 

indicated below: 

Measurable 

Objective 

Performance Measure Target Output 

2010/2011 

Actual Output 

2010/2011 

Deviation from 

Target 

Reason for Non-

Achievement 

Develop 

alternative 

revenue 

generation 

streams by 

promoting private 

hire. 

Monitor private hire 

revenue target. 

 

Increase income 

stream through 

promotion of private 

hire. 

Set target for private 

hire was achieved and 

the income also 

increased. 

Target achieved.  

 

Improve route Monitor monthly 

route revenue to check 

To achieve the set 

annual target on route 

Set annual route 

revenue target 

Target achieved. 

HOD: Operations 

N. Funani 
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Measurable 

Objective 

Performance Measure Target Output 

2010/2011 

Actual Output 

2010/2011 

Deviation from 

Target 

Reason for Non-

Achievement 

performance.  route performance. revenue. achieved.  

Improve driver 

performance. 

Driver performance. Review and 

evaluate driver 

performance. 

Bus drivers were 

assessed on driver 

performance. 

Target achieved  

 

Increase No. of 

buses operating 

in social routes. 

Monitor Operational 

fleet. 

5 additional buses for 

social routes. 

5 x buses were added 

in Reeston and 

Queenstown social 

routes. 

Target achieved. 

 

Develop and 

implement a 

passenger 

participation 

plan. 

Review the passenger 

participation plan. 

Hold meetings with 

Bus Committees. 

Meetings were held. Target achieved. 

2.6.5.6 Areas of Operation 

2.6.5.6.1 Zwelitsha Depot 

The Zwelitsha Depot covers the areas of King William‟s Town and Keiskammahoek. 

A total of 703,233 passengers were conveyed with 896,547 kilometres travelled. 

2.6.5.6.2 Reeston Depot 

The Reeston Depot covers the areas of East London. 

A total of 413,515 passengers were conveyed with 538,036 kilometres travelled. 

2.6.5.6.3 Queenstown Depot 

The Queenstown Depot covers the areas of Ntabethemba, Whittlesea and Swartwater. 

A total of 476,611 passengers were conveyed with 561,402 kilometres travelled. 

2.6.5.6.4 Alice Depot 

The Alice Depot covers the areas of Alice and Middledrift. 

A total of 197,434 passengers were conveyed with 207,760 kilometres travelled. 

2.6.5.7 Summarised Statistics 

A grand total of 1,790,793 passengers were carried with 2,203,745 route kilometres travelled during 

the year under review. 
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2.6.5.8 Vehicle State 

Depot 2010/2011 2009/2010 2008/09 

Zwelitsha 24 27 27 

Reeston 14 14 11 

Queenstown 15 15 15 

Alice 7 9 9 

TOTAL 63 65 62 

 Seven buses in total were scrapped in two phases in the year under review and those were B10, B46, 

B01, B21, B43, B39 and B44.  5 buses were leased, taking our fleet to 63. 

2.6.5.9 Accidents 

Only one major accident was recorded this year and it was as a result of muddy-clay road.  The driver 

could not control it due to the terrain and road surface as it was raining. It fell with passengers, but 

there were no casualties. This happened at Queenstown with B41. 

2.6.6 MARKETING & COMMUNICATIONS UNIT  

2.6.6.1 Purpose of Marketing & Communications Unit 

To further develop and sustain MTC into a strong brand.   Inculcate a 

customer service ethic in all divisions to realise the Provincial Customer 

Service Charter and implement Corporate Social Investment Programmes.   

2.6.6.2 Strategic Goal of Marketing & Communications Unit 

To further develop and sustain MTC into a strong brand. 

2.6.6.3 Service Delivery Objectives, Indicators & Achievements  

The Communications & Marketing Unit has been able to demonstrate results against its measurable 

objectives as indicated below: 

Measurable 

Objective 

Performance 

Measure 

Target Output 

2010/11 

Actual Output 

2010/11 

Deviation from 

Target & 

Reasons for 

Non-

Achievement 

To further develop and 

sustain MTC into a 

strong brand. 

Communications and 

Marketing Plan 

developed. 

Marketing Strategy 

reviewed and 

implemented. 

Develop and 

implement a 

Marketing plan 

and finalise 

Brand 

Target partially 

achieved (85%) 

Brand 

Development 

Marketing & 

Communications Officer 

Z. Mapeyi 
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Measurable 

Objective 

Performance 

Measure 

Target Output 

2010/11 

Actual Output 

2010/11 

Deviation from 

Target & 

Reasons for 

Non-

Achievement 

Development. could not be 

finalised due to 

financial 

constraints.  

Implement Corporate 

Social Responsibility 

Programme.  

Sponsorship of 

sports clubs and 

community events 

concentrating on the 

rural areas. 

Sponsorship of 

identified sports 

code and support of 

adopted soccer club. 

Sponsorship 

provided to 

soccer club. 

 

Target achieved. 

 

 

Inculcate a customer 

service ethic in all 

divisions to realise the 

Provincial Customer 

Service Charter.  

Customer Service 

Charter adopted and 

implemented. 

Customer Service 

excellence 

integrated into 

business operational 

plans of each staff 

members. 

Developing a 

customer service 

plan and 

associated 

customer service 

charter. 

Target achieved. 

 

 

 

 

Queenstown Bus Committee 
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PART 3 

 

AUDIT COMMITTEE  

 

 

 

 

Handing over of gift at Retirees Year End Function by 

Audit Committee Member, Mrs Ruth Luzuka 



 

 
Mayibuye Transport Corporation 

Annual Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2011 

 

 

 

Page 35 of 86 

3 AUDIT COMMITTEE COMMENTS ON THE 2010/2011 

ANNUAL REPORT FOR THE MAYIBUYE TRANSPORT 

CORPORATION 

Report of the Audit Committee 

 

We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 

March 2011. 

 

Audit Committee Members and Attendance: 

 

The audit committee consists of the members listed hereunder and 

meets at least four times per year as per its approved charter. It is, 

however, noted that during the current financial year only three 

meetings were held.  

 

 

Name of Member     Number of Meetings Attended 

 

Mr. J Mdeni (Chairperson)      3 

Mrs. T Jama (appointed on 25 May 2010)    2 

Mrs. R Luzuka        2 

 

Audit Committee Responsibility 

 

The audit committee reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 51(1)(a) 

of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 3.1.The Audit Committee also reports that it has adopted 

appropriate formal terms of reference as its audit committee charter, has regulated its affairs in 

compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein. 

 

The effectiveness of internal control  

 

Continuing from the strategies adopted in the previous financial year, the Corporation continues to 

implement, monitor and review the effectiveness of the system of internal controls in place.  

 

With the assistance of the Internal Audit, the following reviews were performed:   

 

 2009/10 External Audit Management Letter (Follow-Up) 

 Revenue (Follow-Up) 

 Procurement (Follow-Up) 

 Assets 

 Revenue 

 Board, Audit Committee and Internal Audit Charters 

 Risk Assessment, Risk Management Policy & Strategy and Fraud Prevention Plan 

 

Notwithstanding the fact that several shortcomings were pointed out, the Audit Committee is satisfied 

that the Corporation is continually focusing on maintaining qualitative levels of internal controls. 

Adequate steps are being implemented to address the shortcomings identified during the internal 

reviews and external audit reports. 

Audit Committee 

Chairperson 

J. Mdeni 
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In line with the PFMA and the King III Report on Corporate Governance requirements, internal audit 

provides the audit committee and management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate 

and effective. This is achieved by means of the risk management process, as well as the identification 

of corrective actions and suggested enhancements to the controls and processes. From the various 

reports of the internal auditors, the audit report on the annual financial statements and the management 

report of the Auditor-General South Africa, it is evident that the system of internal control was not 

entirely effective for the year under review.  

 

Evaluation of Financial Statements 

 

The audit committee has:  

 Reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual 

report, with the Auditor-General South Africa and the accounting authority; 

 Reviewed the Auditor-General South Africa‟s management report and management‟s response 

thereto; 

 Reviewed MTC‟s compliance  with legal and regulatory provisions; 

 Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit. 

We concur with and accept the Auditor-General‟s report on the annual financial statements, and are of 

the opinion that the audited annual financial statements should be accepted and read together with the 

report of the Auditor-General. 

 

Internal audit 

 

During the year under review, several deficiencies in the system of internal control were reported by 

the internal auditors and the Auditor-General South Africa. However, the impact of budgetary 

constraints on the entity‟s ability to effect improvements is noted. 

 

We are satisfied that the internal audit function is operating effectively and that it has addressed the 

risks pertinent to MTC in its audits.  

 

Auditor-General South Africa 

 

The Audit Committee has met with the Auditor-General South Africa to ensure that there are 

no unresolved issues. 
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Appreciation 

 

The committee expresses its sincere appreciation to the Honourable MEC, Accounting Officer, Senior 

Management team, staff, Internal Audit and the Auditor General. 

 

 

 
 

Chairperson of the Audit Committee 

 

Date: 19 August 2011 
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PART 4 

 

ANNUAL FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 

 

 

Tshatshu Warriors Soccer Team with CEO, Mr Mbinda 
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4 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

4.1 REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

4.1.1 GENERAL REVIEW 

4.1.1.1  Overview of Financial Results 

I have done a review of the attached annual financial statements.  The following were noted in 

carrying out the review: 

Total revenue generated from bus fares and private hire for the financial period under review 

amounted to R18,633,508.  

Depot 2011 2010 

Zwelitsha 7,196,358 7,870,299 

Reeston 4,161,776 3,652,963 

Queenstown 5,713,287 5,298,175 

Alice 1,562,087 1,692,141 

TOTAL 18,633,508 18,513,578 

The own-revenue has been achieved by an average number of 48 operating buses (2010: 48) with a 

total number of 2,341,510 kilometers travelled. Private hire kilometers amounted to 137,765 (2010: 

150,722) while route kilometers stood at 2,203,745 (2010: 2,231,356) for the financial year. 

Combined revenue has been generated by each depot as follows:- 

Depot 

2011 2010 

Route Revenue 

Private Hire 

Revenue Route Revenue 

Private Hire 

Revenue 

Zwelitsha 6,474,403 721,955 7,212,534 631,101 

Reeston 3,271,328 890,448 2,971,545 708,082 

Queenstown 5,173,223 540,064 5,046,891 251,284 

Alice 1,378,806 183,280 1,519,972 172,170 

TOTAL 16,297,760 2,335,747 16,750,942 1,762,637 

Bus allocation per depot for the financial year was as follows:- 
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DEPOT 2011 2010 

Zwelitsha 18 17 

Reeston 11 12 

Queenstown 13 12 

Alice 6 7 

TOTAL OPERATING BUSES 48 48 

 

Average route revenue per bus was as follows:- 

 
DEPOT 2011 2010 

Zwelitsha 359,689 424,267 

Reeston 297,393 247,629 

Queenstown 397,940 420,574 

Alice 229,801 217,139 

 

4.1.1.2 Operating Grant-in-Aid 

 

The Corporation receives grant-in-aid from The Provincial Department of Transport.  The grant is 

meant to subsidize bus fares and partly fund the Corporations‟ operating activities. Allocation for the 

financial year under review was as follows:- 

 2011 2010 

Grant-in-Aid 41,809,000 43,000,000 

4.1.1.3 Operating Expenses 

The Corporation has reported a net profit for the year amounting to R164,385 (2010 net loss: 

R5,009,206). The prior year net loss arose as assets (spare parts & units) were purchased with 

operational budget and the corresponding deferred income could not be realised. The accounting was 

performed as guided by the Auditor-General. The current year net profit has been arrived at after 

taking into account cost of services rendered of R23,007,455 (2010: R28,898,368), operating expenses 

amounting to R25,861,242 (2010: R24,871,027) and administration expenses amounting to 

R19,648,387 (2010: R16,811,190). Non-cash items which have been included in operating expenses 

and include depreciation and provision for staff leave.  Details of reportable operating expenses are 

found in the notes to the financial statements.  

 

4.1.2 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AND PROJECTS 

 

An capital grant amount of R9,860,000 was received from the Department Transport in the current 

financial year. 

 

The following capital expenditures were made: 

 

 Ancillary vehicles; 

 Lease buses and bus refurbishment program; 
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 Operating equipment; 

 Workshop equipment; 

 Office equipment; 

 Office furniture; 

 Depot upgrading. 

4.1.3 INVENTORIES 

Inventory on hand 2011 2010 

Stock on hand  1,471,515 1,133,856 

4.1.4 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS 

Mayibuye Transport Corporation is fully committed to the principles of openness, accountability and 

integrity, as advocated in the King Code of Corporate Governance (King 3).  The Board members 

recognise the need to conduct the business of the Corporation with integrity and in accordance with 

generally accepted corporate governance practices. 

4.1.4.1 BOARD MEMBERS 

The Board consists of eleven non-executive members appointed in terms of a proclamation that was 

gazetted on 30 April 2001 (no. 742 extraordinary).  Two members represent Provincial Government 

departments, whilst the balance was appointed by virtue of their relevant specialist knowledge and 

skills. 

An additional female board member was appointed during the financial year. 

The Chief Executive Officer is an ex-officio member of the Board, but is not entitled to vote. 

4.1.4.2 COMMITTEES 

The Board established the following sub-committees who assist the Board in performing its duties: 

 Finance and Investment; 

 Operations and Engineering; 

 Human Resources and Remuneration; 

 Directors‟ Affairs. 

The Board also appointed an audit committee. The committee was effectively operating during the 

current financial year. The committee consist of: 

 Mr. Jack Mdeni 

 Mrs. Ruth Luzuka 

 Mrs. Thoneka Jama 
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4.1.4.3 STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

The Board is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements 

of Mayibuye Transport Corporation.  The financial statements presented on pages 48 to 82 have been 

prepared in accordance with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice 

and include amounts based on judgements and estimates made by management. 

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements.  The Board members 

have no reason to believe that Mayibuye Transport Corporation will not be a going concern in the 

foreseeable future, based on the commitment by the Government to subsidise public transport. 

The financial statements have been audited by the Office of the Auditor-General, which was given 

unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes of all Board meetings.  

The Board members believe that all representations made to the independent auditors during their 

audit are valid and appropriate. 

4.1.5 RISK MANAGEMENT BY THE CORPORATION 

PricewaterhouseCoopers performed internal audit projects during the financial year. These projects 

include: 

With the assistance of the Internal Audit, the following follow-up reviews were performed:   

 

 2009/10 External Audit Management Letter  

 Revenue  

 Procurement  

 

In addition, the following reviews were performed: 

 

 Assets 

 Revenue 

 Board, Audit Committee and Internal Audit Charters 

 Risk Assessment, Risk Management Policy & Strategy and Fraud Prevention Plan 

The risk management strategy and fraud prevention plan was applied during the current financial year. 

As part of the risk management strategy, a risk committee was established to take responsibility of 

addressing the identified high-level risks.  

4.2 APPROVAL 

The Accounting Officer has approved the attached annual financial statements set out on pages  

48 to 82. 

______________________________ 

L. R. MBINDA 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 



 

 
Mayibuye Transport Corporation 

Annual Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2011 

 

 

 

Page 43 of 86 

4.3 AUDITOR GENERAL’S REPORT 

REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO THE EASTERN CAPE PROVINCIAL 
LEGISLATURE ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF MAYIBUYE TRANSPORT 
CORPORATION FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

Introduction  

1. I was engaged to audit the accompanying financial statements of the Mayibuye 
Transport Corporation, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 
31 March 2011 and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in 
net assets and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the accounting 
authority’s report, as set out on pages 48 to 82. 

Accounting authority’s responsibility for the financial statements 

2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with South African Statements of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (SA Statements of GAAP) and the requirements of the 
Public Finance Management Act  of South Africa, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA), and 
for such internal control as management determines necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

Auditor-General’s responsibility  

3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 (Act 
No. 108 of 1996) and section 4 of the Public Audit Act of South Africa, 2004 (Act No. 25 
of 2004) (PAA) my responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 
based on my audit. 

4. I conducted my audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing and 
General Notice 1111 of 2010 issued in Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 
2010.  Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.  
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6. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for my qualified audit opinion. 

Basis for qualified opinion   

Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 

7. Property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements at a 
carrying amount of R37.5 million. The prior year adjustment to depreciation and 
impairment amounting R5.71 million has not been appropriately allocated to the 
individual assets. Consequently, I was not able to determine if the current year carrying 
amount, estimation of impairments and management assessment of the remaining 
useful lives of the assets is correct. As a result, even after performing alternative audit 

procedures, I could not obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence relating to the 

valuation of PPE as disclosed in the statement of financial position and note 3 and the 
completeness, accuracy and occurrence of the depreciation and impairment charges of 
R7.2 million and R 730 000 respectively as disclosed in the statement of financial 
performance and note 3. 

Deferred income  

8. The release of the deferred income is dependent on the depreciation charge realised on 
Property, plant and equipment. For the reasons stated in paragraph 7, I could not verify 
the accuracy, completeness and occurrence of the depreciation charge for the year. As 
a result of this, I was also unable to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence relating to the 
accuracy, completeness and occurrence of the release of deferred income of R7.96 
million included in Grant revenue of R49.8 million in the statement of financial 
performance and the valuation and completeness of the deferred income balance of 
R37.7 million disclosed in the statement of financial position and note 10.  

Revenue 

9. Included in revenue of R18.6 million (2010: R18.5 million) in the statement of 
comprehensive income and as disclosed in note 14 to the financial statements is casual 
passenger revenue amounting to R16.3 million (2010: R16.8 million). Significant 
variances were noted between the revenue amounts in the wayfarer system (revenue 
recording system) and the accounting records. This was a result of inadequate controls 
over the wayfarer system. The system records and related controls did not permit the 
application of alternative audit procedures. As a result, I could not obtain all the 
information I considered necessary to satisfy myself as to the completeness and 
accuracy of casual passenger revenue of R16.3million and cash and cash equivalents 
of R1.8 million (2010: R2.5 million) as disclosed in note 14 and 7 to the financial 
statements respectively. 

Accumulated deficit 

10. As a result of the matters detailed in paragraphs 7,8 and 9, I am unable to conclude on 
the accuracy of the accumulated deficit as disclosed in the statement of financial 
position of R60.4 million (R60.6 million). 
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Qualified opinion 

11. In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matters described in the Basis for 
qualified opinion paragraphs, the financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Mayibuye Transport Corporation (Corporation) as 
at 31 March 2011 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, 
in accordance with SA Statements of GAAP and the requirements of the PFMA. 

Emphasis of matters  

12. I draw attention to the matters below. My opinion is not modified in respect of these 
matters: 

Share capital 

13. In terms of the Ciskeian Corporations Act of 1981 and the Corporations Transitional 
Provisions Act (Act 12 of 1995) (Eastern Cape), the entity should issue a R1 share for 
each R1 of capital grant received. As disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements, the 
entity does not have adequate authorised share capital to issue. The Accounting 
Authority applied for an increase in the authorised share capital in June 2009 to the 
Executive Authority, a follow-up application was made on 21 February 2011 to further 
increase the authorised share capital to 120 000 000 shares to accommodate current 
and future capital grants. The increase in authorised share capital has only been 
approved subsequent to the year ended 31 March 2011. However, until this approval is 
gazetted, it may not be utilized to fulfill the requirements of the above mentioned Act. 

Significant uncertainties  

14. As disclosed in note 3 and 18 to the financial statements, the Zwelitsha Depot, which is 
situated on communal land, has been recognised as leasehold land and buildings with a 
carrying value of R1.1 million. The entity’s right to occupy the properties has not 
reduced to writing; however it derives economic benefits from the use thereof and 
carries the risks that are incidental to ownership. A process for the acquisition of the title 
deed has been initiated with the Land Claims Commission, the outcome of which is 
uncertain at the date of this report. The possible cost element of the acquisition of the 
land as well as any adjustments to the carrying value of leasehold land and buildings is 
therefore dependent on this future event and cannot be reasonably measured. 

Material losses 

15. As disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements, material losses to the amount of 
R730 000 were incurred on the buses as a result of impairment, which resulted from the 
scraping of buses attributed to the poor conditions of the roads that the buses drive on. 
This was in line with the accounting standards to ensure that the carrying amount of the 
assets do not exceed the net recoverable amount. 

16. As disclosed in note 6 to the financial statements an amount of R225 209 was written off 
as irrecoverable trade debtors. These were long outstanding debtors. 



 

 
Mayibuye Transport Corporation 

Annual Report for the Year Ended 31 March 2011 

 

 

 

Page 46 of 86 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS  

17. In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in 
Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010, I include below my findings on the 
annual performance report as set out on pages [xx] to [xx] and material non-compliance 
with laws and regulations applicable to the public entity. 

Report on predetermined objectives 

Included below are the findings raised during our audit of the report on predetermined 
objectives. 

Usefulness of information 

Measurability: Indicators are well-defined and verifiable, and targets are specific, measurable 
and time-bound. 

18. The following audit finding relates to the above criterion: 

For the selected objective, 40% of the planned and reported indicators could not be 
easily understood.  Indicators are understood by the individuals in the transport industry, 
but these cannot be understood by the general public which is a requirement of the 
Framework for Managing Performance Information.  

Compliance with laws and regulations  

Annual financial statements 

19. The financial statements submitted for audit did not comply with section 55(1)(c)(i) of the 
PFMA. Material misstatements were identified during the audit, certain of these were 
corrected by management and those that were not are included in the basis for qualified 
opinion paragraphs. 

Revenue management 

20. The accounting authority did not take effective and appropriate steps to collect all 
revenue due to the Corporation as per requirements of section 51(1)(b)(i) of the PFMA.  

Asset management 

21. The accounting authority did not exercise utmost care to ensure reasonable protection 
and safeguarding of the assets and records of the Corporation as required by section 
50(1)(a) and 51(1)(c) of the PFMA.  The accounting authority did not ensure that a 
proper control system exists for assets. The fixed asset register was not adequately 
maintained during the year.  

INTERNAL CONTROL  

22. In accordance with the PAA and in terms of General notice 1111 of 2010, issued in 
Government Gazette 33872 of 15 December 2010, I considered internal control relevant 
to my audit, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control. The matters reported below are limited to the significant deficiencies 
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that resulted in the basis for qualified opinion, the findings on the annual performance 
report and the findings on compliance with laws and regulations included in this report. 

Leadership 

23. The accounting authority does not evaluate whether management has implemented 
effective internal controls by gaining an understanding of how senior management has 
met its responsibilities.  

Financial and performance management 

The following were noted as a result of the lack of proper maintenance of the accounting 
records that support the financial statements: 
 
24. The accounting authority did not design and implement adequate systems to ensure 

proper recording of transactions and the reliability and accuracy of financial information. 
This lack of processes and systems contributed to schedules (not limited to fixed assets 
and revenue) supporting the financial statements being materially misstated.  

25. The Framework for Managing Performance Information has not been fully understood. 
The planned and reported indicators included in the performance report could not be 
easily understood. Indicators are understood by the individuals in the transport industry, 
but these cannot be understood by the general public which is a requirement of the 
Framework for Managing Performance Information.   

Governance 

The audit committee identified the risks to financial and performance reporting and 
requested the internal auditors to follow up on these risks. The corporation leadership 
however did not implement the recommendations of the audit committee, external and 
internal audit. As a result, the audit committee could not fulfil its responsibilities effectively. 

 

East London 

29 July 2011 
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4.4 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AS AT 31 MARCH 2011 

DIRECTORS P.L.C. Maseti Chairperson 

 

J.S. Nyengane Deputy Chairperson 

 

P.P. Balfour Director 

 

F.S. Loliwe Director 

 

M. Tuswa Director 

 

A.J. De Vries Director 

 

T.A. Thomas Director 

 

A.M. Church Director 

 

N.E.P. Loyilane Director 

 

N. Shweni-Booysen Director 

 

R.N. Luzuka Director 

   

 

Ms F.S. Loliwe was appointed on 23 August 2010.  

   NATURE OF BUSINESS The entity provides subsidised public transport and 

is governed by the Public Finance Management Act, 

Schedule 3D Provincial Government Business 

Enterprises Entity. 

 

 

BANKERS The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited 

 

 

AUDITORS Auditor-General South Africa 
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4.4.1 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2011 

 NOTES  2011  2010 

    R    R  

ASSETS      

      

Non-current assets      

Property, plant and equipment 3  37,491,417   33,286,543  

Finance lease assets 4         7,360,613                         -  

      

Total non-current assets         44,852,030         33,286,543  

      

Current assets      

Inventories 5            1,471,515             1,133,856  

Trade and other receivables 6              415,007               491,829  

Cash and cash equivalents 7            1,770,890             2,480,568  

      
Total current assets           3,657,412           4,106,254  

      

Total assets         48,509,442         37,392,796  

      

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES      

      

Capital and reserves      

Share capital 8          56,761,075           56,761,075  

Accumulated deficit         (60,222,094)        (60,647,480) 

      
         (3,461,019)        (3,886,405) 

      

Non-current liabilities      

Finance lease liability 9            4,207,714                         -  

Deferred income 10          37,748,100           35,849,745  

      
         41,955,814         35,849,745  

      

Current liabilities       

Current portion of finance liability  9            2,909,286                         -  

Trade and other payables  11            3,766,652             2,396,692  

Payroll accruals  12            3,057,709             2,751,763  

Provision  13              281,000               281,000  

      
         10,014,647           5,429,455  

       

Total equity and liabilities          48,509,442         37,392,796  
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4.4.2 STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 

MARCH 2011 

 NOTES 2011  2010 

   R    R  

    

 Revenue  14 18,633,508     18,513,579  

  

 

 

 Cost of services rendered   23,007,455      28,898,368  

       

Gross profit / (loss)     (4,373,949)   (10,384,790) 

  

 

 

 Other income - Grant  22.2 49,770,644      46,668,766  

  

 

 

 Other operating income          211,915           141,026  

 

    Administration expenses  

 

(19,648,387) 

 

(16,811,190) 

 

    Operating expenses  

 

(25,861,242) 

 

 (24,871,027) 

       

Profit / (Loss) from operations  15.1         98,981      (5,257,215) 

  

 

 

 Interest income   15.1         65,404           248,009  

       

  

 

 

 Profit / (loss) for the year          164,385      (5,009,206) 
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4.4.3 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 

  NOTES  Share Accumulated  

  Capital Loss Total 

   R   R   R  

     

Balance at 1 April 2009    56,761,075    (54,451,487)   2,309,588  

     
Prior period error   24.1                    -      (1,186,787) (1,186,787) 

     
Additional grant received                     -                      -                   -  

     
Deferred income release to income                     -                      -                   -  

     
Profit / (loss) for the year                     -     (5,009,206) (5,009,206) 

     
        

Balance at 31 March 2010    56,761,075    (60,647,480) (3,886,405) 

     

Prior period error   24.1                    -          261,001       261,001  

     
Additional grant received                     -                      -                   -  

     
Deferred income release to income                     -                      -                   -  

     
Profit / (loss) for the year                     -          164,385       164,385  

      

       

Balance at 31 March 2011    56,761,075    (60,222,094) (3,461,019) 
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4.4.4 STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 

 NOTES  2011  2010 

   R    R  

     

OPERATING ACTIVITIES      

     

Cash receipts from customers        60,039,445        18,228,039  

Cash paid to suppliers and employees     (57,721,790)    (14,230,722) 

       

     

Cash generated by operations  16        2,317,655          3,997,317  

Interest received              65,404             248,009  

       

NET CASH (USED IN) / FROM 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

         

2,383,057  

         

4,245,326  

     

     

INVESTING ACTIVITIES      

        

Purchases of property, plant and equipment     (12,143,009)    (11,119,114) 

Purchases of finance lease assets  4     (7,623,980)                       -  

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment                        -                9,918  

      

NET CASH (USED IN) / FROM INVESTING 

ACTIVITIES 

 

  (19,766,989) 

 

 (11,109,196) 

    

    

FINANCING ACTIVITIES      

    

(Decrease) / increase in grant allocation  10        9,860,000          8,500,000  

Finance lease liability raised  4        7,623,980                        -  

Finance lease liability repaid          (809,729)                       -  

       

NET CASH (USED IN) / FROM FINANCING 

ACTIVITIES 

 

     16,674,251  

 

       8,500,000  

     

     

NET INCREASE  / (DECREASE) IN CASH 

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

 

       (709,680) 

 

       1,636,130  

     

     

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 

BEGINNING OF YEAR  

 

       2,480,569  

 

          844,439  

     

       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END 

OF YEAR  7       1,770,890  

 
      2,480,569  
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4.4.5 ACCOUNTING POLICY NOTES 

1 PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

  

 These financial statements are presented in South African Rand [R] since that is the 

functional currency in which the transactions are denominated. 

  

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

  

 The Annual Financial Statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, 

other than certain financial instruments, and incorporate the following principal 

accounting policies, which have been consistently applied in all material respect. The 

financial statements have been prepared in accordance with South African Statements of 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice.  The principal accounting policies adopted 

remained unchanged from the previous year except as listed below: 

  

2.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 

  

 In the current year, the Corporation has adopted all new GAAP standards and 

interpretations that are relevant to its operations, and that became effective for periods 

beginning on or after 1 April 2010. The adopted standards and interpretations have not 

resulted in significant changes to the Corporation's accounting policies or financial 

performance. 

  

2.2 Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure 

  

 Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in 

accordance with a requirement of any applicable legislation, including: 

  

 . The Public Finance Management Act, or  

 . Any provincial legislation providing for procurement procedures in that provincial 

government.  

  

 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would 

have been avoided had reasonable care been exercised. 

  

 All irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure is recognised in profit and loss in the 

period in which it is incurred and where recovered, it is subsequently accounted for as 

revenue in the Income Statement. 

  

2.3 Cash and cash equivalents 

  

 Cash and cash equivalents are measured at fair value. 

  

 Cash in the balance sheet comprises cash at bank and on hand and short-term deposits 

held by the Corporation.  For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash 

equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above. 
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2.4 Revenue recognition 

  

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  

Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar 

allowances.  Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic 

benefits will flow to the entity and the revenue can be reliably measured. 

  

 When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of services can be estimated 

reliably, revenue associated with the transaction will be recognised by reference to the 

stage of completion of the transaction at the balance sheet date. 

  

 Revenue from the sale of bus tickets and bus hiring is recognised when the significant 

risks and rewards of ownership are transferred to the buyer.  

  

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and 

at the interest rate applicable, except for interest earned on capital funding which is 

disclosed separately. 

  

2.5 Leasing 

  

 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the term of the lease transfer 

substantially all the risks and rewards to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 

operating leases. Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the 

Corporation at their fair value at the inception of the lease or if lower at the present 

value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is 

included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation. The lease payments are 

apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to 

achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  

  

2.6 Deferred income 

  

 Government grants represent monthly transfer payments from the Eastern Cape 

Department of Roads and Transport in order to subsidise the Corporation's public 

transport service. 

  

 Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that the entity will 

comply with the conditions related to them and that the grants will be received. Grants 

related to income are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as other 

income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs that they are 

intended to compensate.  The timing of such recognition in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income will depend on the fulfilment of any conditions or obligations 

attached to the grant.  Grants related to assets are presented as deferred income in the 

Statement of Financial Position. The Statement of Comprehensive Income will be 

affected either by reduced deprecation charge or by deferred income being recognised as 

income systematically over the useful life of the related asset. 

  

2.7 Defined contribution plans 

  

 The cost of defined contribution plans is the contribution payable by the employer for 
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that accounting period.  Contribution to a defined contribution plan, in respect of service 

in a particular period, is recognised as an expense in that period. 

  

2.8 Taxation 

  

 No provision has been made for taxation as the entity is a tax exempt institution in terms 

of section 10.1 (a) of the Income Tax Act No. 58 of 1962. 

  

2.9 Property,  plant and equipment 

  

 Buildings, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses.  Such cost includes the cost of replacing part of the 

plant and equipment when that cost is incurred, if the recognition criteria are met.  All 

other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

  

 Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life. 

  

 Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight line basis at 

rates that will reduce the book values to estimated residual values over the anticipated 

useful lives of the assets concerned.  The principal annual rates used for this purpose 

are: 

  

 Ancillary Vehicles 25% 

 Buses - Body 12.5% 

 Buses - Chassis, Engine, etc. 8.33% 

 Office Equipment 20% 

 Office Furniture 10% 

 Operating Equipment 20% 

 Workshop Equipment 25% 

 Buildings 2% 

 Spare parts & Units 50% 

  

 Spare parts and units are capitalised at cost. It is not practical to determine the carrying 

amount or cost of the parts and units that were replaced or added. The carrying amount 

or cost of replacement is estimated at what the cost of the replaced part or unit was 

initially. 

  

 An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 

economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Inferior 

equipment is written off in full in the year it is acquired.  Surpluses or deficits on the 

disposal of assets are credited or charged to income. The surplus or deficit is the 

difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset. 

  

 Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment is capitalised if the 

subsequent expenditure meets the definition of an asset. 
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 When parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they 

are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and 

equipment and shall be depreciated according to their different useful life. 

  

 
The gains and losses arising from the de-recognition of property, plant and equipment 

(difference between carrying amount less any revaluation surpluses and net disposal 

proceeds) are included in surplus or deficit when the item is derecognized. 

  

 The residual value and the useful life of each asset are reviewed and adjusted at balance 

sheet date.  

  

 The depreciation charge for each year is recognized in surplus and deficit unless it is 

included in the carrying amount of another asset. 

  

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets 

  

 The Corporation assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an 

asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing 

for an asset is required, the Corporation estimates the asset‟s recoverable amount. 

  

 An asset‟s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset‟s or cash-generating unit‟s fair 

value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, 

unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 

from other assets or group of assets.  Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 

recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 

recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 

discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 

determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate valuation model is used. 

  

 For an asset that does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those 

from other assets the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to 

which the asset belongs. An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement 

whenever the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit exceeds recoverable amount. 

  

 A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed if the recoverable amount increases 

as a result of a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount, but 

not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net 

of depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised in prior years. 

  

2.11 Inventories 

  

 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated 

using the weighted average method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in 

the ordinary course of business, and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
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 Inventory cost includes the costs of purchase of inventories comprising the purchase 

price, levies, pressing and storage. Trade discounts, rebates and other similar items are 

deducted in determining the costs of purchase. 

  

2.12 Financial Instruments 

  

2.12.1 Investments and Financial Assets 

  

 Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-

for-sale financial assets, as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially, 

they are measured at fair value, plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through 

profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.  

  

 The Corporation determines the classification of its financial assets on initial recognition 

and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year 

end. 

  

2.12.2 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

  

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss includes financial assets held for 

trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through 

profit or loss.  

  

 Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of 

selling in the near term. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also 

classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments 

or a financial guarantee contract. Gains or losses on investments held for trading are 

recognised in profit or loss.  

  

2.12.3 Held-to-maturity investments 

  

 Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed 

maturities are classified as held-to-maturity when the Corporation has the positive 

intention and ability to hold to maturity. After initial measurement held-to-maturity 

investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains 

and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the investments are derecognised or 

impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.  

  

2.12.4 Loans and receivables 

  

 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement loans and 

receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any 

allowance for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 

loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation 

process. 
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2.12.5 Available-for-sale financial investments 

  

 Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial assets that are 

designated as available-for-sale or are not classified in any of the three preceding 

categories. After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at 

fair value with unrealised gains or losses recognised directly in equity until the 

investment is derecognised or determined to be impaired at which time the cumulative 

gain or loss previously recorded in equity is recognised in profit or loss. 

  

2.12.6 Amortised cost 

  

 Held-to-maturity investments and loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost. 

This is computed using the effective interest method less any allowance for impairment. 

The calculation takes into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes 

transaction costs and fees that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. 

  

2.13 Impairment of financial assets 

  

 The Corporation assesses at each balance sheet date whether a financial asset or group 

of financial assets is impaired.  

  

2.13.1 Assets carried at amortised cost 

  

 If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on assets carried at amortised cost 

has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 

asset‟s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted 

at the financial asset‟s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is 

reduced through use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss shall be 

recognised in profit or loss.  

  

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 

can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 

previously recognised impairment loss is reversed, to the extent that the carrying value 

of the asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. Any subsequent 

reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

  

 In relation to trade receivables, a provision for impairment is made when there is 

objective evidence that the Corporation will not be able to collect all of the amounts due 

under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced 

through use of an allowance account. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are 

assessed as uncollectible. 

  

2.13.2 Available-for-sale financial investments 

  

 If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between 

its cost and its current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised in 

profit or loss, is transferred from equity to profit or loss. Reversals in respect of equity 

instruments classified as available-for-sale are not recognised in profit or loss. Reversals 
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of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through profit or loss, if the 

increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring 

after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss. 

  

2.14 Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

  

2.14.1 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

  

 Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held 

for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value 

through profit or loss.  

  

 Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 

of selling in the near term. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised 

in profit or loss. 

  

2.14.2 De-recognition of financial assets and liabilities  

  

 Financial assets 

  

 A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 

similar financial assets) is derecognised when: 

  

 - the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; 

  

 - the Corporation retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has 

assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party 

under a „pass through‟ arrangement; or 

  

 - the Corporation has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and 

either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) 

has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, but has transferred control of the asset. 

  

 Financial liabilities 

  

 A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged 

or cancelled or expires. 

  

 When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on 

substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 

modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition of the original 

liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 

carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 
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2.15 Future changes to accounting policies 

  

 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, a number of International 

Financial Reporting Standards and Interpretations had been promulgated, but were 

effective for periods after 31 March 2011. The Corporation will implement these as they 

become effective. 

 

 

 

Based on a review of these standards, management have determined that none of them 

would have a significant impact on the Corporation as at 31 March 2011, had they been 

effective. 

 

 

2.16 Provisions 

 

 

 

Provisions are recognised where the Corporation has a present legal or constructive 

obligation as a result of a past event, a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made 

and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be 

required to settle the obligation. 

 

 

2.17 Key management assumptions, estimates and judgements 

  
 The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting 

estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 

applying the Corporation‟s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree of 

judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 

the financial statements are disclosed. 

  

 The key assumptions, estimates and judgements concerning the future and other key 

sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a significant risk of 

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities within 

the next financial year are discussed below. 

  

 The residual values and estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment were 

assessed and found to be reasonable.  Residual values of motor vehicles are determined 

with reference to market related prices of vehicles in a similar condition. 
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4.4.6 NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

3 PROPERTY, PLANT & EQUIPMENT 

 
 

Land &  

Building  

Leasehold  

Land & 

Buildings  

Ancillary  

Vehicles  Buses  

Spare parts 

&  

Units  

Office  

Equipment  

Office  

Furniture  

Operating  

Equipment  

 

Workshop  

Equipment  Total  

  R   R   R   R  R  R   R   R   R   R  

           

Carrying value at 1 April 2010 3,521,702 1,100,000 1,674,905 19,976,409 4,122,128 698,164 631,568 1,304,662 257,003 33,286,543 

At Cost 3,646,433 1,100,000 3,004,526 45,750,408 8,390,062 1,208,595 783,744 2,322,202 643,154 66,849,126 

Accumulated Depreciation (124,732) - (1,329,621) (25,774,001) (4,267,934) (510,431) (152,176) (1,017,540) (386,150) (33,562,586) 

           

Additions  175,512 - 351,678 754,720 4,428,499 527,112 6,172 3,295,872 13,660 9,553,221 

Disposals - Cost - - (35,200) (3,169,188) - (98,911) (750) - - (3,304,049) 

Disposals - Accumulated Depreciation - - 35,200 2,449,579 - 88,141 520 - - 2,573,441 

Prior year write off - Cost - - - - (4,267,934) - - - - (4,267,934) 

Prior year write off –  

Accumulated Depreciation - - - - 4,267,934 - - - - 4,267,934 

Year-end transfer from inventory - - - - 2,589,788 - - - - 2,589,788 

Impairment loss - - - - - - - - - - 

Prior period error - - - - - - - - - - 

Depreciation for the year (60,018) - (181,835) (2,568,393) (3,747,289) (191,049) (77,311) (245,587) (136,046) (7,207,529) 

          37,491,417 

Carrying value at 31 March 2011 3,637,195 1,100,000 1,844,748 17,443,122 7,393,934 1,022,775 560,076 4,354,947 134,617 37,491,417 

At Cost 3,821,945 1,100,000 3,321,004 43,335,935 11,140,632 1,636,703 789,043 5,618,074 656,814 71,420,151 

Accumulated Depreciation (184,750) - (1,476,256) (25,892,815) (3,746,698) (613,928) (228,967) (1,263,127) (522,197) (33,928,736) 

           

           

           

           

           

Carrying value at 1 April 2009 2,862,505 1,100,000 1,239,738 22,735,589 4,551,166 398,627 460,009 1,024,823 352,780 34,725,237 

At Cost  2,937,550 1,100,000 2,331,793 40,563,890 8,728,616 809,694 547,786 2,150,337 627,242 59,796,908 

Accumulated Depreciation (75,045) - (1,092,055) (17,828,301) (4,177,450) (411,067) (87,777) (1,125,514) (274,462) (25,071,671) 

           

Prior period error adjustments  - - 360,678 (1,323,512) - - 209,013 382,240 - (371,581) 

Additions  708,883 - 672,734 5,186,518 3,838,896 247,501 235,959 171,865 56,761 11,119,117 

Disposals - Cost  - - - - (4,177,450) (122,669) - - (40,849) (4,340,968) 

Disposals - Accumulated Depreciation  - - - - 4,177,450 109,936 - - 38,245 4,325,631 

Impairment loss - - - (713,334) - - - - - (713,334) 

Depreciation for the year  (49,686) - (598,245) (5,908,853) (4,267,934) (144,245) (64,399) (274,266) (149,933) (11,457,561) 

          33,286,541 

Carrying value at 31 March 2010 3,521,702 1,100,000 1,674,905 19,976,409 4,122,128 698,164 631,568 1,304,662 257,003 33,286,543 

At Cost  3,646,433 1,100,000 3,004,527 45,750,408 8,390,062 1,208,595 783,744 2,322,202 643,154 66,849,126 

Accumulated Depreciation  (124,732) - (1,329,621) (25,774,001) (4,267,934) (510,431) (152,176) (1,017,540) (386,150) (33,562,586) 

           

           

Land and buildings comprises workshops, offices and bus sheds situated in the following sites:  

 Erf 77, 78, 79, 80, 81 of farm 35, Wilsonia, district of East London, market value R2,600,000.  

 Plot 4265, Queendustria Industrial Township, Queenstown, market value R1,400,000.  

 Zone 8 Zwelitsha - the entity has been given the right to use the property indefinitely.  A process for the acquisition of the title deed 
has been initiated with the Land Claims Commission. At present, a valuation has been performed and the land has been surveyed, 

details of which are noted under note 16. Improvements on the property are capitalised. 

 Erf 1097, Alice, market value R620,000.  

Included in the property, plant and equipment net book value are assets recorded at R1. These are old assets, but still in use. The Corporation 

estimates that value of the assets at R117,185. 

Material losses to the amount of R730,000 were incurred on the buses as a result of impairment, which resulted from the scrapping of buses 
attributed to the poor conditions of the roads that the buses drive on. This was in line with the accounting standards to ensure that the carrying 

amount of the assets do not exceed the net recoverable amount. The loss resulting from scrapping is disclosed in note 15.1. 
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4 FINANCE LEASE ASSETS  2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

Carrying value at 1 April 2010                    -                    -  

    

 

Additions     7,360,613                    -  

 

Accumulated depreciation                    -                    -  

    

 

Carrying value at 31 March 2011     7,360,613                    -  

    
 During the year under review the Corporation entered into a lease agreement with 

MAN Financial Services for the supply of five buses. The lease is repayable within 36 

months at monthly instalments of R242,440.53. The interest implicit is 9%. At the end 

of the lease term the Corporation has an option to acquire the buses outright, extend 

the agreement or to return the buses to MAN Financial Services. The depreciation 

charge is included in the fixed asset note. 

    

5 INVENTORIES  2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

Fuel, Oils and Greases        716,515        533,348  

 

Units                    -                    -  

 

Spares                    -                    -  

 

Consumables        170,686        180,211  

 

Tyres & Tubes        156,751        152,152  

 

Ancillary Vehicle Spares          14,781          13,378  

 

Operational Equipment Spares                    -          21,195  

 

Stationery, Tickets and Waybills        268,466        233,572  

    

  
   1,471,515     1,133,856  

  

  

 

Inventories included in cost of services rendered   13,959,999   20,301,753  

  

  

6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

  

    

 

Trade receivables        225,209        234,209  

 

Less: Provision for impairment of receivables      (225,209)     (184,256) 

  
                  -          49,954  

 

Other receivables        415,007        441,876  

  
      415,007        491,829  

    

 Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-60 days‟ terms. 

 

  As at 31 March 2011, trade receivables at nominal value of R225,209 (2010: 

R184,256) for the Corporation were impaired and fully provided for. Movements in 

the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows: 
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Individually 

impaired 

   

R 

    

 

At 1 April 2009 

 

      579,525  

 

Charge for the year 

 

                  -  

 

Utilised 

 

   ( 395,269) 

 

At 31 March 2010 

 
      184,256  

 

Charge for the year 

 

        40,953  

 

Utilised  

 

                  -  

 

At 31 March 2011 

 
      225,209  

    

 

As at 31 March, the ageing analysis of trade and other receivables are as follows: 

    

  
2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

< 30 days         78,715        441,876  

 

30 – 60 days                   -                    -  

 

60 – 90 day                   -                    -  

 

90 – 120 day                   -                    -  

 

>120 days       336,292          49,953  

 

Total       415,007        491,829  

    7 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

  

    

 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, call deposits and cash balances 

with banks.  Cash and cash equivalents included in the cash flow statement comprise 

the following balance sheet amounts: 

    

 

Current Account    1,723,515     2,439,678  

 

Transaction Advisor         21,817          21,817  

 

Call Account           1,601          16,601  

 

Petty cash         23,957           2,472  

    

  
   1,770,890     2,480,568  

    

 

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates.  Short-

term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, 

depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Corporation, and earn interest at 

the respective short-term deposit rates.  The fair value of cash and short-term deposits 

is R1,770,890 (2010: R2,480,568). 
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8 SHARE CAPITAL  2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

Authorised:  

  

 

Ordinary shares of R 1 each   60,000,000   60,000,000  

 

Issued and fully paid:  

  

 

Ordinary shares of R 1 each   56,761,075   56,761,075  

    

 

The authorised share capital was increased to 60,000,000 as per the notification in the 

Government Gazette dated April 2005. 100% of the shares are held by the Department 

of Roads and Transport and the entity has one class of ordinary shares which carry no 

right to Provincial Administration. The entity has one class of ordinary shares which 

carry no right to fixed income. 

  

 

The Corporation applied for an increase in authorised share capital on 8 June 2009 

from the executive authority in order to issue share capital equal to the capital grants 

(R48,610,000) received since 2006. A follow-up application was made on 21 February 

2011 to further increase the authorised share capital to 120,000,000 shares to 

accommodate current and future capital grants. The increase in authorised share 

capital has not been approved to date. 

    9 FINANCE LEASE LIABILITY  2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

At the balance sheet date, the entity had outstanding 

commitments under finance leases, which fall due as 

follows:    7,116,999                    -  

    

 

Within one year     2,909,286                    -  

 

In the second to fifth years inclusive     4,207,714                    -  

 

After five years                    -                    -  

    

 

During the year under review the Corporation entered into a lease agreement with 

MAN Financial Services for the supply of five buses. The lease is repayable within 36 

months at monthly instalments of R242,440.53. The interest implicit is 9%. At the end 

of the lease term the Corporation has an option to acquire the buses outright, extend 

the agreement or to return the buses to MAN Financial Services. An interest portion of 

R521,821 is included in the lease liability payable within one year. 

    10 DEFERRED INCOME  2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

At 1 April 2010   35,849,745   31,018,511  

 

Additional grant received     9,860,000     8,500,000  

 

Deferred income released to income   (7,961,644)  (3,668,766) 

  
 37,748,100   35,849,745  
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11 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

Trade payables     1,382,436        968,223  

    

 

Other payables     2,384,215     1,428,469  

    

 

- Accrued Provident Fund        452,792                    -  

 

- Accrued PAYE        324,020           7,314  

 

- Accrued Medical Aid        311,869                    -  

 

- Accrued Workmen's Compensation        243,602        472,444  

 

- Accrued Employee Insurance        191,246                    -  

 

- Private Hire Deposits           4,000        215,954  

 

- Additional payables        856,687        732,757  

  
   3,766,652     2,396,692  

    

 

Terms and conditions of the above financial liabilities: 

  

 

Trade and other payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day 

terms. 

  

 

Additional payables not described include accrued water and electricity, garnishees, 

unemployment insurance fund, levies, union fees and housing bonds. 

    12 PAYROLL ACCRUALS  2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

At 1 April 2010    2,751,763    2,205,355  

 

Additional accrual in the year    2,396,515    3,127,542  

 

Utilisation of accrual   (2,090,569)  (2,581,134) 

 

At 31 March 2011     3,057,709     2,751,763  

    

 

Accrual for bonuses - 13th cheque        587,970        560,959  

 

Accrual for leave     2,469,739     2,190,804  

  
   3,057,709     2,751,763  

    13 PROVISIONS  2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

Employee Cost         281,000        281,000  
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14 REVENUE  

  

 

Revenue comprises of passenger fares and special hire revenue. 

  

     

2011 2010 

     

R R 

 

An analysis of the Entity's revenue is as follows:  

          

 

Passenger fares  

   

16,297,760 16,750,942 

 

Special hire  

   

2,335,747 1,762,637 

       

 

Total revenue  

  
  18,633,508 18,513,579 

       

 

A major portion of the Corporation's revenue comprises cash sales to passengers. It should 

be recognised that controls are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance 

that errors and irregularities will not occur, and that procedures are performed in accordance 

with management's intentions. There are inherent limitations that should be recognised in 

considering the potential effectiveness of any system of internal controls. The Corporation 

utilises the sole service provider in South Africa to record bus fare information. 

Management identified data integrity errors resulting from the revenue application system 

failure during the financial year and rectified this. There are no unreconciled differences 

between banking of cash and revenue collected per the revenue application system. 

  

 

The controls implemented by management include the installation of electronic ticketing 

machines, establishing an effective inspectorate unit and implementing a zero-tolerance 

policy with regards to non-issue of bus fare tickets. In addition, the Corporation has 

upgraded to a new revenue recording system, which will be effective in the 2011/12 

financial year. The system will strive to address revenue accuracy and completeness 

recordings. 

  15 NET PROFIT / LOSS FROM OPERATIONS  

  15.1 Net Profit / Loss from operations has been arrived at after charging (crediting):  

  

 

INCOME  

   
2011 2010 

     R R 

       

 

Interest income  

   

         65,404            248,009  

 

Profit on disposal of assets  

  

                   -                       -  
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EXPENSES  

   
2011 2010 

     R R 

       

 

Audit fees  

   

1,763,700 1,793,083 

 

Audit Committee (see note 15.2 and 15.3)  

 

19,379 28,012 

 

Defined contribution plan  

  

4,566,290 4,265,175 

 

Directors Emoluments (see note 15.4 and 15.5)  

 

280,229 338,629 

 

Depreciation  

   

7,207,526 11,492,104 

 

Impairment loss  

   

                   -  713,334 

 

Insurance  

   

1,226,244 912,321 

 

Interest  

   

591,168                      -  

 

Interest - Discounting  

  

204,045                      -  

 

Loss on disposal of assets - Impairment resulting from 

scrapping  730,609 5,419 

 

Finance lease charges  

  

214,429 223,062 

 

Consulting fees  

   

595,151 505,428 

 

Staff Costs  

   

35,165,181 31,021,556 

       

 

The number of permanent employees for the financial 

year ended was:  191 175 

       15.2 Audit committee  

    
2011 

    
Meetings Travel Total 

 

Fees for attending meetings 

 
R R R 

       

 

J. Mdeni - Chairperson  

 

           7,500  4,197              11,697  

 

T. Jama  

  

           2,475                  82                2,557  

 

R. Luzuka  

  

           4,950                175  5,125  

       

    

       14,925             4,454             19,379  

       15.3 Audit committee  

    
2010 

    
Meetings Travel Total 

 

Fees for attending meetings 

 
R R R 

       

 

M. Mantyi  

  

           2,500                     -                2,500  

 

R. Luzuka  

  

           6,475               350           6,825  

 

J. Mdeni  

  

         12,000             6,687              18,687  

       

    

       20,975             7,037             28,012  
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15.4 Directors Emoluments   

   
2011 

    

Meetings Travel Total 

    

R R R 

       

 

P.L.C. Maseti - Chairperson  

 

         20,733             1,469              22,202  

 

S.J. Nyengane - Vice-chairperson           43,483             3,550              47,033  

 

P.P. Balfour  

  

         22,275             1,000              23,275  

 

M. Tuswa  

  

                  -                     -                       -  

 

A.J. De Vries  

  

                  -                     -                       -  

 

T.A. Thomas  

  

         34,650            4,858              39,508  

 

F.S. Loliwe  

  

           9,900             1,475              11,375  

 

A.M. Church  

  

         22,275             1,961              24,236  

 

N.E.P. Loyilane  

  

         19,800             1,298              21,098  

 

N. Shweni-Booysen  

 

         42,075             3,673              45,748  

 

R. Luzuka  

  

         42,075            3,678              45,753  

       

    

     257,266           22,963           280,229  

       15.5 Directors Emoluments   

   
2010 

    

Meetings Travel Total 

    

R R R 

       

 

P.L.C. Maseti - Chairperson  

 

         52,821             1,710              54,531  

 

S.J. Nyengane - Vice-chairperson           67,545             1,918              69,463  

 

P.P. Balfour  

  

         17,825                561              18,386  

 

D. Lefutso  

  

         44,815             1,565              46,380  

 

A.J. De Vries  

  

                  -                     -                       -  

 

T.A.Thomas  

  

         25,015             2,243              27,258  

 

M. Tuswa  

  

                  -                     -                       -  

 

A.M. Church  

  

         29,965                780              30,745  

 

N.E.P. Loyilane           32,940             1,308              34,248  

 

N. Shweni-Booysen  

 

         40,600              986            41,586  

 

R. Luzuka  

  

         15,375                657              16,032  

       

    

     326,901           11,728           338,629  
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15.6 Senior Management  

   
2011 

       

  
 CEO   CFO   HOD: HR   HOD: OPS   HOD: ENG  

  
 L.R. Mbinda   L. Coetzer   L.C. Mtise   N. Funani   Z. Leni  

  
 R   R   R   R   R  

       

 

Basic        838,116     623,712         518,352        470,755           483,168  

 

Car        120,000       36,000           64,548           45,288              49,812  

 

Housing 

allowance                 -                 -         17,563                  -                   -  

 

Medical aid           29,971        20,387                   -             9,299              20,513  

 

Provident         135,775                 -          90,910           82,617              84,796  

 

Bonus         104,854        51,976          43,196           39,230              40,264  

 

UIF             1,497         1,497            1,497             1,497                1,497  

 

Total       1,230,213       733,572         736,066         648,686           680,050  

       15.7 Senior Management  

   
2010 

  
 CEO   CFO   HOD: HR   HOD: OPS   HOD: ENG  

  
 L.R. Mbinda   L. Coetzer   L.C. Mtise   N. Funani   Z. Leni  

  
 R   R   R   R   R  

       

 

Basic       623,099      476,655        405,867        220,942           374,841  

 

Car       131,988        39,960          58,680          26,418            45,288  

 

Housing 

allowance                      -            -  17,568                   -          -  

 

Medical aid    19,080         16,827                   -            3,479     9,531  

 

Provident      97,264              -         65,749           35,791              60,725  

 

Bonus    102,169       39,090      33,297       31,391   30,666  

 

UIF        1,500           1,500  1,500                875                1,500  

 

Total    975,100  574,032       582,661         318,896           522,551  
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15.8 FINANCE LEASE ARRANGEMENTS  2011 2010 

  

R R 

    

 

Minimum lease payments paid under finance leases         214,429           223,062  

    

 

At the balance sheet date, the entity had outstanding 

commitments under finance leases, which fall due as 

follows: 

      

 

Within one year  108,905 148,372 

 

In the second to fifth years inclusive           13,269           183,624  

 

After five years                     -                       -  

    

 

Finance lease payments represent rentals payable by the Corporation for certain of its office 

equipment. 
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16 CASH GENERATED BY OPERATIONS  

    

 
FROM / (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES  2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

Net Profit / (Loss) for the year 164,385    (5,009,206) 

    

 

Adjustments for:  

      

 

Profit / Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  730,609              5,419  

 

Impairment loss                     -          713,334  

 

Prior period error       261,001                     -  

 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment        7,207,526  11,457,560  

 

Deferred income      (7,961,644)   (3,668,766) 

 

Interest on finance leases          566,114                    -  

 

Interest income           (65,404)  (248,009) 

    

 

Operating cash flow before movements in working capital          902,587      3,250,332  

    

 

(Increase) / Decrease in inventories         (337,659)         (37,531) 

    

 

(Increase) / Decrease in receivables            76,822           185,899  

    

 

Increase  / (Decrease) in payables        1,675,906           598,618  

  

    

    

  
      2,317,655      3,997,318  
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17 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES   

  

 The Corporation's principal financial liabilities comprise of trade and other payables.  The 

main purpose of these financial liabilities is to recognise amounts payable by the 

Corporation. The Corporation has various financial assets such as trade and other receivables 

and cash and short-term deposits, which arise directly from its operations. 

  

 The Entity has no significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large 

number of counterparties and customer. 

  

 The main risks arising from the company‟s financial instruments are cash flow interest rate 

risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for 

managing each of these risks which are summarised below. 

  

 Interest rate risk 

  

 The Corporation is exposed to interest rate risk as it has a bus lease agreement in place.   

  

 Credit risk management 

  

 The entity trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. Receivable balances are 

monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the entity's exposure to bad debts is not 

significant.  The maximum exposure is the carrying amount as disclosed in Note 5. There are 

no significant concentrations of credit risk within the company. 

  

 With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the company, which 

comprise of cash and short-term deposits, the entity's exposure to credit risk arises from 

default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these 

instruments. 

  

 Liquidity risk 

  

 The entity monitors its risk to a shortage of funds by considering the maturity of both its 

financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.  The entity's objective is to 

maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through use of the grant-in-

aid funding.  

  

 Foreign currency risk 

  

 The Corporation is not exposed to foreign currency risk.  

  

 Capital management 

  

 The primary objective of the Corporation's capital management is to ensure that it continue to 

provide a safe and reliable public transport service and to maximise internal revenue 

collection. 
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18 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  

  

 During the reporting period, there were matters arising that gives rise to contingent liabilities: 

  

 The Corporation is in the process of obtaining a title deed for the Zwelitsha depot. A historic 

land valuation was performed which was used for negotiation purposes to draft a settlement 

agreement. In addition, the land was surveyed to assess the exact boundaries. At year-end, the 

Corporation is awaiting correspondence from the Land Claims Commission to purchase the 

land. The possible cost element of the outright acquisition of the land is uncertain. 

  

19 CONTINGENT ASSETS  

  

 At the reporting date, the Corporation has a claim against an employee of R135,953. The 

success of the claim depends on the outcome of the court case, which was set for 24 January 

2011. The employee absconded the court case and the trial has been rescheduled until and 

when the accused is arrested. 

  

20 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS  2011 2010 

 

 R R 

 

 

  

 

Commitments for the acquisition of property, plant and 

equipment:                    -                    -  

  

21 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

  

 

The directors are not aware of any matter of circumstances arising since the end of the 

financial year, which significantly affects the operations of the Corporation. The Department 

of Transport has approved the increase in authorised share capital. When the increase is 

Gazetted, it will affect the Corporation's financial position. 

 

 

22 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

 

 

22.1 Identification of related parties 

 

  Eastern Cape Department of Transport. The Department is the sole shareholder of the 

Corporation and the Corporation acts as the service delivery arm of the Department. The 

Department provides the grant-in-aid and the Corporation report on its activities. 

  

 Board of Directors - Refer to note 14.4 for details of transactions with directors. The Board is 

appointed by the Executive Authority and fulfil a governance and oversight role.  

  

 Key management personnel - Refer to note 14.6 for detail of transactions with key personnel. 

Management is responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Corporation. 

  

 Director NEP Loyilane - She is also a director of Fabkomp which transacted with the 

Corporation for an amount of R353,974. Fabkomp refurbishes old buses and the transaction 

comprised of one bus refurbishment. 
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22.2 Related party transactions  

  

 Significant transactions occurred between the Department of Transport by way of receiving 

grant funding. 

  

  
2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

Grant received      41,809,000      43,000,000  

 

Deferred income        7,961,644       3,668,766  

 

 
  49,770,644   46,668,766  

  

23 GOING CONCERN  

  

 We draw attention to the fact that at 31 March 2011, the Corporation had an accumulated 

deficit of R60,222,094 (2010: R60,647,480). 

  

 The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to 

a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations 

and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and 

commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 

  

 The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to 

a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations 

and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and 

commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 

  

 The ability of the Corporation to continue as a going concern is dependent on a number of 

factors. The most significant of these is that the directors continue to procure funding for the 

ongoing operations of the Corporation by recapitalisation of the bus fleet in order to increase 

revenues, as well as negotiations and pro-active budgeting and communication thereof to the 

Department of Transport, in an effort to obtain additional funding in the form of 

unconditional grants. 

  

 The Department of Transport has approved a grant-in-aid of R51,429,000 for the 2011/12 

financial year.  

  

24 PRIOR PERIOD ERRORS  

  

24.1 Restatement of prior year known errors 

  

 The financial statements have been restated to correct these unadjusted known errors from the 

2010 financial year. The effect of the restatement on the opening accumulated deficit is 

summarised below: 
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2011 2010 

  
R R 

    

 

Trade and other payables           16,578       ( 278 950) 

 
Office equipment                   -       ( 327 243) 

 
Operating equipment accumulated depreciation                   -          382 240  

 

Ancillary vehicles accumulated depreciation                   -          360 678  

 

Buses accumulated depreciation                   -     (1 323 512) 

 
Lease liability         262,187                    -  

 
Inventory          (14,654)                   -  

 

Trade and other receivables           (3,109)                   -  

  
       261,001    (1,186,787) 

  

 A prior period error of R55,292 relating to trade and other receivables is included in note 6 of 

the financial statements. 

  

25 STANDARDS / INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED NOT YET EFFECTIVE AS AT 15 

JANUARY 2011  

  

 Below is a list of the current standards and interpretations that have been issued, but may not 

be effective. 

  

 

Standard Details of amendment 

Annual 

periods 

beginning on 

or after 

 IFRS 1, First-time 

Adoption of 

International Financial 

Reporting Standards 

Measurement of the cost of investments in 

subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and 

associates when adopting IFRS for the first 

time. 01-Jul-09 

 Amendments relating to oil and gas assets and 

determining whether an arrangement contains a 

lease. 01-Jan-10 

 Amendments relieve first-time adopters of 

IFRS's from providing the additional 

disclosures introduced through Amendments to 

IFRS 7 in March 2009. 01-Jul-10 

 Amendment clarifies that changes in accounting 

policies in the year of adoption fall outside of 

the scope of IAS8. 01-Jan-11 

 Amendment permits the use of revaluation 

carried out after the date of transition has a 

basis for deemed cost. 01-Jan-11 

 Amendment permits the use of carrying amount 

under previous GAAP as deemed cost for 

operations subject to rate regulation. 01-Jan-11 
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Standard Details of amendment 

Annual 

periods 

beginning on 

or after 

 

 

Standard amended to provide guidance for 

entities emerging from severe hyperinflation 

and resuming presentation of IFRS compliant 

financial statements, or presenting IFRS 

compliant financial statements for the first time. 01-Jul-11 

 Standard amended to remove the fixed date of 1 

January 2004 relating to the retrospective 

application of the derecognition requirements of 

IAS39, and relief for the first-time adopters 

from calculating day 1 gains on transactions 

that occurred before the date of adoption. 01-Jul-11 

 IFRS 2, Share Based 

Payments 

Clarification of scope of IFRS2 and IFRS3 

revised. 01-Jul-09 

 Amendments relating to group cash-settled 

share-based payment transactions - clarity of 

the definition of the term "Group" and where in 

a group share-based payments must be 

accounted for. 01-Jan-10 

 Amendments relating to group cash-settled 

share-based payment transactions - clarity of 

the definition of the term "Group" and where in 

a group share-based payments must be 

accounted for. 01-Jan-10 

 IFRS 3, Business 

Combinations 

Amendments to accounting for business 

combinations. 01-Jul-09 

 Amendments to transition requirements for 

contingent consideration from a business 

combination that occurred before the effective 

date of the revised IFRS. 01-Jan-11 

 Clarification on the measurement of non-

controlling interests. 01-Jan-11 

 Additional guidance provided on un-replaced 

and voluntarily replaced share-based payment 

awards. 01-Jan-11 

 IFRS 5 Non-current 

Assets Held for Sale and 

Discontinued Operations 

Plan to sell the controlling interest in a 

subsidiary. 01-Jul-09 

 Disclosures of non-current assets (or disposal 

groups) classified as held for sale or 

discontinued operations. 01-Jan-10 

 IFRS 7 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosure 

Amendment clarifies the intended interaction 

between qualitative and quantitative disclosures 

of the nature and extent of risks arising from 

financial instruments and removed some 

disclosure items which were seen to be 

superfluous or misleading. 01-Jan-11 
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Standard Details of amendment 

Annual 

periods 

beginning on 

or after 

 

 

Amendments require additional disclosure on 

transfer transactions of financial assets, 

including the possible effects of any residual 

risks that the transferring entity retains. The 

amendments also require additional disclosures 

if a disproportionate amount of transfer 

transactions are undertaken around the end of a 

reporting period. 01-Jul-11 

 IFRS 8, Operating 

Segments 

Disclosure of information about segment assets. 

01-Jan-10 

 IFRS 9, Financial 

Instruments 

New standard that forms the first part of a three-

part project to replace IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
01-Jan-13 

 IAS 1, Presentation of 

Financial Statements 

Current/non-current classification of convertible 

instruments. 01-Jan-10 

 Clarification of statement of changes in equity. 01-Jan-11 

 IAS 7, Statement of 

Cash Flows 

Classification of expenditures on unrecognised 

assets. 01-Jan-10 

 IAS 10 Events after the 

Reporting Period 

Amendment resulting from the issue of IFRIC 

17. 01-Jul-09 

 IAS 12 Income Taxes Rebuttable presumption introduced that an 

investment property will be recovered in its 

entirety through sale. 01-Jan-12 

 IAS 17 Leases Classification of leases of land and buildings. 01-Jan-10 

 IAS 21 The Effects of 

Changes in Foreign 

Exchange Rates 

 

Consequential amendments from changes to 

Business Combinations. 01-Jul-09 

 Consequential amendments from changes to 

IAS27 Consolidated and Separate Financial 

Statements (Clarification on the transition rules 

in respect of the disposal or partial disposal of 

an interest in a foreign operation). 01-Jul-10 

 IAS 24 Related Party 

Disclosures 

Simplification of the disclosure requirements 

for government-related entities. 01-Jan-11 

 Clarification of the definition of a related party. 01-Jan-11 

 IAS 27 Consolidated and 

Separate Financial 

Statements 

Consequential amendments from changes to 

Business Combinations. 
01-Jul-09 

 Transition requirements for amendments arising 

as a result of IAS27 Consolidated and Separated 

Financial Statements. 01-Jul-10 

 IAS 28 Investments in 

Associates 

Consequential amendments from changes to 

Business Combinations. 01-Jul-09 
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Standard Details of amendment 

Annual 

periods 

beginning on 

or after 

 

 

Consequential amendments from changes to 

IAS27 Consolidated and Separated Financial 

Statements (Clarification on the transition rules 

in respect of the disposal or partial disposal of 

an interest in a foreign operation). 01-Jul-10 

 IAS 31 Interests in Joint 

Ventures 

Consequential amendments from changes to 

Business Combinations. 01-Jul-09 

 Consequential amendments from changes to 

IAS27 Consolidated and Separated Financial 

Statements (Clarification on the transition rules 

in respect of the disposal or partial disposal of 

an interest in a foreign operation). 01-Jul-10 

 IAS 32 Financial 

Instruments: 

Presentation 

Accounting for rights issues (including rights, 

options or warrants) that are denominated in a 

currency other than the functional currency of 

the issuer. 01-Feb-10 

 IAS 34 Interim Financial 

Reporting 

Clarification of disclosure requirements around 

significant events and transactions including 

financial instruments. 01-Jan-11 

 IAS 36 Impairment of 

Assets 

Unit of accounting for goodwill impairment 

test. 01-Jan-10 

 IAS 38 Intangible Assets Additional consequential amendments arising 

from revised IFRS 3. 01-Jul-09 

 Measuring the fair value of an intangible asset 

acquired in a business combination. 
01-Jul-09 

 IAS 39 Financial 

Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement 

Clarifies two hedge accounting issues: 01-Jul-09 

  - Inflation in a financial hedged item.   

  - A one-sided risk in a hedged item.   

 Amendments for embedded derivatives when 

reclassifying financial instruments. 

Annual 

periods ending 

on or after 30 

June 2009 

 Treating loan prepayment penalties as closely 

related embedded derivatives. 
01-Jan-10 

 Scope exemption for business combination 

contracts. 01-Jan-10 

 Cash flow hedge accounting. 01-Jan-10 
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Interpretations 

Annual 

periods 

beginning on 

or after 

 IFRIC 9 (Amended) Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives. 

01-Jul-09   - Scope of IFRIC 9 and revised IFRS 3. 

 IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes. 

01-Jan-11 

  - Clarification on the intended meaning of the term "fair value" in respect 

of award credits. 

 IFRIC 16 (Amended) Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation. 

01-Jul-09 
  - Amendment to the restriction on the entity that can hold hedging 

instruments. 

 IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners. 01-Jul-09 

 IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers. 01-Jul-09 

 IFRIC 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments. 01-Apr-10 
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4.4.7 DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE 

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2011 

   2011  2010 

   R  R 

      

      

 
INCOME 

 

       18,910,825  

 

       18,902,613  

      

 

Casual passengers 

 

      16,297,760  

 

       16,750,942  

 

Private Hire 

 

        2,335,747  

 

         1,762,637  

 

Other income 

 

          277,318  

 

            389,035  

 

     Discount Received 

 

               46,798  

 

               52,000  

 

     Interest 

 

               65,404  

 

            248,009  

 

     Profit on sale of assets 

 

                      -    

 

                      -    

 

     Miscellaneous 

 

            165,117  

 

               89,026  

      

      

 
EXPENDITURE 

 

        61,309,559  

 

        59,088,481  

      

 

Operations Department 

 

        19,432,792  

 

        20,432,574  

 

Accident costs 

 

               86,460  

 

             157,445  

 

Fuel 

 

          8,075,298  

 

          8,625,840  

 

Fines 

 

                 2,574  

 

                 1,050  

 

Licenses and Permits 

 

             985,316  

 

          1,199,696  

 

Lubricants and Grease 

 

             549,200  

 

             588,724  

 

Maintenance - Operating Equipment 

 

             199,259  

 

             490,846  

 

Private Hire Expenses 

 

             171,611  

 

             190,971  

 

Salaries and Wages 

 

          7,692,345  

 

          6,901,525  

 

Sleep-out Allowance 

 

               69,569  

 

               84,843  

 

Ticket/Waybill Usage 

 

               74,106  

 

             161,533  

 

Travelling and Subsistence 

 

               34,928  

 

               64,387  

 

Tyre Usage 

 

          1,492,127  

 

          1,860,586  

 

Uniforms 

 

                      -    

 

             105,127  

      

 

Traffic Department 

 

          6,492,660  

 

          5,804,861  

 

Ancillary Vehicle Costs 

 

             237,605  

 

             127,346  

 

Driver of the Year Award 

 

                 3,100  

 

                 4,570  

 

Salaries and Wages 

 

          6,157,595  

 

          5,610,606  

 

Travelling and Subsistence 

 

               81,218  

 

               58,215  

 

Uniforms 

 

               13,141  

 

                 4,124  
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   2011  2010 

   R  R 

      

 

Maintenance Department 

 

        15,928,707  

 

        16,039,857  

 

Ancillary Vehicle 

 

             258,063  

 

             232,163  

 

Building Maintenance 

 

             353,069  

 

             384,145  

 

Bus Repairs 

 

             824,312  

 

          2,884,406  

 

Consumables Used 

 

             450,670  

 

             433,344  

 

Fleet Management 

 

             740,776  

 

             280,688  

 

Loose Tools 

 

               54,509  

 

               58,047  

 

Maintenance - Workshop Equipment 

 

             106,738  

 

               48,416  

 

Salaries and Wages 

 

        12,728,520  

 

        11,453,034  

 

Spares Used 

 

                      -   

 

                      -   

 

Staff Uniforms 

 

               78,373  

 

               93,956  

 

Travelling and Subsistence 

 

             140,691  

 

             171,658  

 

Workmens Compensation 

 

             192,987  

 

                      -   

 

Units Used 

 

                      -   

 

                      -   

      

 

Administrative Department 

 

        19,455,400  

 

        16,811,189  

 

Auditor's Remuneration 

 

          1,763,700  

 

          1,793,083  

 

Ancillary Vehicle 

 

                    200  

 

                      -   

 

Audit Committee 

 

               19,379  

 

               28,012  

 

Bad debts 

 

               40,953  

 

                    120  

 

Bank Charges 

 

             170,676  

 

             162,797  

 

Cleaning, teas and entertainment 

 

             129,310  

 

             151,342  

 

Collection Fees 

 

             241,484  

 

             316,283  

 

Communication and Marketing 

 

             177,266  

 

               71,578  

 

Computer Expenses 

 

             153,243  

 

             202,478  

 

Consultation Fees 

 

             595,151  

 

             505,428  

 

Directors' Fees 

 

             280,229  

 

             338,629  

 

Donations and sponsorships 

 

               13,800  

 

               32,479  

 

Electricity and Water 

 

             618,418  

 

             591,734  

 

General Expenses 

 

 10,992  

 

                      -   

 

Impairment loss 

 

                      -   

 

             713,334  

 

Insurance 

 

          1,226,244  

 

             912,321  

 

Interest and Penalties 

 

             795,213  

 

                    219  

 

Lease Charges 

 

             214,429  

 

             223,062  

 

Legal Expenses 

 

               58,333  

 

               15,846  

 

Levies 

 

             285,536  

 

             258,882  

 

Long Service Awards 

 

               25,300  

 

               43,000  

 

Loss on sale of assets 

 

             730,609  

 

                 5,419  
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   2011  2010 

   R  R 

      

      

 

Maintenance - Office Equipment 

 

               42,105  

 

               16,688  

 

Medical expenses - Doctor Referrals 

 

                 3,019  

 

                      -   

 

Operating expenditure - Discounting 

 

          (235,199) 

 

                      -   

 

Printing and Stationary 

 

             409,744  

 

             452,490  

 

Recruitment costs 

 

               12,743  

 

               56,959  

 

Salaries and Wages 

 

          8,586,721  

 

          7,056,390  

 

Security Expenses 

 

          1,205,466  

 

          1,229,396  

 

Subscriptions 

 

               93,949  

 

               67,961  

 

Telephone Expenses 

 

             897,363  

 

             765,062  

 

Training 

 

             461,847  

 

             430,578  

 

Travelling and Subsistence 

 

             427,176  

 

             369,620  

      

 

Loss for the year before Depreciation 

 

    (42,398,734) 

 

     (40,185,867) 

 

Depreciation 

 

       (7,207,526) 

 

 (11,492,104) 

      

 

Loss for the year before Government Grant 

 

    (49,606,259) 

 

     (51,677,972) 

 

Government Grant 

 

        49,770,644  

 

       46,668,766  

      

 

Profit / (Loss) for the year 

 

           164,385  

 

       (5,009,206) 
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5  HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 

5.1 ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 

The Corporation‟s structure consists of four (4) Divisions, namely The CEO‟s Office which includes 

Human Resources, Finance and Marketing and Communication, Operations and Engineering. 

5.2 VISION & MISSION OF HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION 

5.2.1 VISION 

Guided by the ethos of service & commitment to the maintenance of best bus company standards, the 

division strives to render an effective and equitable service to all MTC employees. To lend support to 

the Human Resources and Business Development Strategy by recruiting outstanding candidates that 

will add value to the organization thereby leading to the realization of the Corporation's vision. 

5.2.2 MISSION 

To achieve the aforementioned vision, we embrace the following core values:  

 Superior Performance - driven by the quest for continuous improvement and excellence in 

rendering HR services (Industrial Relations, Training & Development Personnel & 

Organizational Development), as well as compliance with all relevant pieces of legislation. 

 Being Proactive - work towards exceeding our customers‟ expectations by proactively 

assessing and addressing their current and future needs.  

 Ethical Business Practices - we will continually uphold strong business ethics and values, and 

ensure the transfer of these to our internal employees.   

 We will further see to the development of sound human resources policies and procedures, 

serve as a custodian of these policies by ensuring compliance and adherence to them. 

5.3 COMBINED ANNUAL AND SICK LEAVE UTILISATION FOR THE PERIOD 1 

APRIL 2010 TO 31 MARCH 2011 

Level Total Days % Days With 

Medical 

Certificate 

No. Of 

Employees Using 

Sick Leave 

%Using Sick 

Leave 

Human Resources & Admin 728 13% 192 15% 

Engineering 2102.50 37% 599 47% 

Operations 2829 50% 476 38% 
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5.3.1 INCAPACITY (DUE TO ILL-HEALTH) 

Total Days Taken %With Medical 

Certificate 

No. Of Employees 

On Disability 

Average Days 

Per Employee 

Human Resources: 0 0 0 

Engineering: 1 1 45 

Operations: 0 0 0 

5.4 INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS – DISCIPLINARY HEARINGS FINALISED 

Sanction Imposed Nature of Misconduct Number of employees % of total 

Fined 10% of excess, 

Final Written Warning 

Negligence 3 17.6% 

Written Warning Negligent driving 0 0 

Written Warning Negligence 1 5.9% 

Dismissed Under the influence of liquor 1 5.9% 

Dismissed Theft 9 52.9% 

Dismissed Dishonesty 2 11.8% 

Final Written Warning Poor Performance 1 5.9% 

 

 Handing over of gifts at Retirees Year End Function 
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